Utah State University

DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations, Fall 2023 to Present

Graduate Studies

5-2024

Do Physical Activity, Diet and Sex Modify the Association Between Neurotrophin Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Insomnia?

Hector Leonardo Gonzalez Utah State University, leonardo.gonzalez@usu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd2023

Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Gonzalez, Hector Leonardo, "Do Physical Activity, Diet and Sex Modify the Association Between Neurotrophin Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Insomnia?" (2024). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations, Fall 2023 to Present*. 171. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd2023/171

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations, Fall 2023 to Present by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



DO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, DIET AND SEX MODIFY THE ASSOCIATION

BETWEEN NEUROTROPHIN SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE

POLYMORPHISMS AND INSOMNIA?

by

Hector Leonardo Gonzalez

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Psychology

Approved:

JoAnn Tschanz, Ph.D. Committee Chair

Mona Buhusi, Ph.D. Committee Member

Gail B. Rattinger, Ph.D. Committee Member Yin Liu, Ph.D. Committee Member

D. Richard Cutler, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2024

Copyright © Hector Gonzalez 2024

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

DO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, DIET AND SEX MODIFY THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN NEUROTROPHIN SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS AND INSOMNIA?

by

Hector Leonardo Gonzalez, Master of Science

Utah State University, 2024

Major Professor: Dr. JoAnn Tschanz Department: Psychology

The prevalence of insomnia in late life is influenced by a wide array of genetic and lifestyle factors, some of which exhibit sex-dependent effects. This study examined the main effects of selected single nucleotide polymorphisms or SNPs related to the neurotrophin, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), or its receptors in relation to lifestyle factors of physical activity and diet, and their interactions on the risk for sleep disturbance in older males and females. This thesis analyzed the initial wave of data from the Cache County Study on Memory and Aging (CCSMA), a longitudinal, population study, where 5,092 participants aged 65 years and older, residing in Cache County, Utah, were assessed through various measures. The results revealed that SNPs for BDNF or its receptors showed no significant association to sleep disturbance in both males and females. Males experienced an 18% reduced odds of sleep disturbance with increasing levels of physical activity (p = .023), whereas unexpectedly, greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with an 8% higher odds of reporting sleep disturbance.

For females, no significant associations were found between the SNPs, lifestyle factors, and sleep disturbance. However, a trend for an interaction between one SNP by physical activity emerged among females: those with the Val66Met minor allele who engaged in sedentary-to-light physical activity exhibited a 45% higher risk of sleep disturbance compared to those with moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. While there were few main effects of SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors and lifestyle factors in relation to sleep disturbance, trends suggest an intricate interplay of genetic and lifestyle factors with sex-dependent variations in their impact. Future studies may wish to further explore sex-dependent associations between genes and lifestyle factors in improving sleep disturbance in older adults.

(90 Pages)

PUBLIC ABSTRACT

DO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, DIET AND SEX MODIFY THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN NEUROTROPHIN SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS AND INSOMNIA?

Hector Leonardo Gonzalez

Sleep disturbance is common in older adults at prevalence rates ranging between 30 -50% in the United States. Neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), play a role in sleep (Bachmann et al., 2012) as do lifestyle factors such as physical activity (Dolezal et al., 2017) and diet. This study examined the associations of selected single nucleotide polymorphisms or SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors and lifestyle factors of physical activity and diet, as well as their interactions on the risk for sleep disturbance in older adult males and females. This thesis examined existing data from the Cache County Study on Memory and Aging (CCSMA), a longitudinal, population study of 5,092 individuals aged 65 years and older residing in Cache County, Utah. The results suggest that SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors were not related to sleep problems in either males or females. In males, increased physical activity reduced the likelihood of experiencing sleep disturbances, while unexpectedly, greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet slightly increased the likelihood of reporting sleep problems. In females, the SNPs and lifestyle choices did not appear to have any relationship with sleep disturbance. However, an interaction between the BDNF gene Val66Met and physical activity showed a trend. Specifically, females with the minor and less common allele who reported sedentary-to-light physical activity exhibited a 45% increase in risk of sleep

disturbance compared to those who reported moderate-to-vigorous physical activity. Overall, this study suggests that SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors had no significant association with sleep disturbance, but that some effects may be specific to males or females. Increasing physical activity may be beneficial for males with sleep disturbance as well as for females, but for the latter, only for a certain BDNF genetic profile. Future studies may wish to further explore sex-dependent associations between genes and lifestyle factors in improving sleep disturbance in older adults.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. JoAnn Tschanz who has served as my mentor, teacher, and academic advisor. I am immensely grateful to you for all the opportunities you have provided me with, and for your support every step of the way. Thank you for believing in me, encouraging me, and challenging me in my academic pursuits. Thank you for providing an encouraging and humorous environment. You have helped me develop my identity as a lifelong learner and contributor to the scientific community. I look forward to continuing to learn from and grow with you.

Thank you also to my committee members, Drs. Mona Buhusi, Gail B. Rattinger, and Yin Liu. Your continued support and direction with this project is deeply appreciated. I am so grateful to have mentors such as you to whom I know I can turn when in need of encouragement, support, or guidance.

I must also acknowledge the wonderful friends and cohort-mates who have helped me throughout this process. Thank you to Sam, Marissa, Maddy, and Mikaela for all the ways you have changed my life for the better.

Finally, I would be remiss if I didn't recognize my family and their endless support for me. My journey through graduate school has been difficult in ways I couldn't imagine, and when all else failed, my family was and continues to be the beacon of hope that has allowed me to persist. No matter the distance, I am so grateful every day for your support, kindness, and unconditional love. I don't know where I would be without you. Thank you.

Hector Gonzalez

vii

Page
Abstractii
Public Abstract
Acknowledgmentsvii
Contentsviii
List of Tablesx
List of Figuresxi
Chapter I Introduction1
Chapter II Literature Review4
Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) and Sleep5 Lifestyle Factors, BDNF and Sleep
Chapter III Methods14
Participants and Procedures.14Measures.15Predictor Variables.16Covariates.19Data Analysis.21
Chapter IV Results
Characteristics. 23 Logistic Regression Models. 30 SNPs for BDNF or its receptors and Sleep Disturbance. 30 Physical Activity. 32 Mediterranean. 32
Macronutrients
Flavonoids. 33 Interactions. 35 SNPs and Physical Activity. 35 SNPs and Mediterranean Diet and other Dietary Variable. 35

CONTENTS

	ix
Chapter V Discussion	39
Discussion	39
Physical Activity	40
Diet	40
Interactions	41
Strengths and Limitations	42
Future Directions	43
References	45
Appendices	64
Appendix 1: Predictor Variables, Covariates, Interactions, and Outcomes Appendix 2: Cache County Study on Memory in Aging Questionnaire	64

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Characteristics Comparing Those Included and Excluded in Analyses25
2.	Overall Baseline Characteristics by Sleep Disturbance
3.	Baseline Characteristics Stratified by Sex
4.	Males: Fully adjusted Logistic Regression Models Comparisons
5.	Females: Fully adjusted Logistic Regression Models Comparisons
6.	Males: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models
7.	Females: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models
8.	Males: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Interactions
9.	Females: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Interactions 37

Table		Page
1.	Flow Chart of Final Sample for Analysis	25

Chapter I

Introduction

Insomnia is a major health problem that affects nearly 60 million Americans each year (Colten et al., 2006). The adverse effects of the high prevalence of insomnia or some variant of sleep disturbance in the U.S. contribute to poor performance in school (Dewald et al., 2010) and the labor market (Kessler et al., 2011). It is well established that insufficient sleep has a negative effect on physical (e.g., hypertension, obesity, diabetes; Paruthi et al., 2016) and mental health (e.g., depression, anxiety, suicidality; Reid et al., 2006). Compared to the general population, older adults experience disproportionately high prevalence rates of insomnia, ranging between 30 - 50% (Ohayon, 2002; Peng et al., 2021; Foley et al., 2004; and Li et al., 2018). Researchers suggest that sleep deprivation may promote cognitive changes and facilitate the development of neurodegenerative diseases and cognitive decline (McEwen, 2006; Yaffe et al., 2014). Recent studies have proposed that the impact of sleep on well-being and cognition may be further enhanced in old age (Kocevska et al., 2021). Given the significance of sleep to health and well-being, further research is necessary to identify specific risk factors for sleep disturbance.

To understand the factors that distinguish individuals with normal sleep from those experiencing sleep disturbances, it is beneficial to consider both biological and lifestyle factors. Neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and nerve growth factor (NGF), play a critical role in neuroplasticity (Duman et al., 2000; Pittenger & Duman, 2008) as well as the regulation of all stages of sleep, at least with respect to BDNF (Faraguna et al., 2008; Deuschle et al., 2018; Guindalini et al., 2014). Individuals with insomnia have shown lower serum BDNF levels compared to individuals without insomnia (Giese et al., 2013). Moreover, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) related to BDNF signaling have also been associated with sleep regulation, as demonstrated by electroencephalographic (EEG) activity (Bachmann et al., 2012; Guindalini et al., 2014). No studies have examined NGF in relation to sleep or sleep disturbances.

Lifestyle factors such as physical activity and diet affect sleep quality and duration. Physical activity ranging from low to high intensity has shown an association with enhanced sleep efficiency and duration (Dolezal et al., 2017; Du et al., 2015). Independent of sleep quality, physical activity has also been reported to increase BDNF levels (Griffin et al., 2011; Berchtold et al., 2005). Similarly, nutrient-rich diets have been shown to improve sleep duration (Ikonte et al., 2019; Grandner et al., 2013). BDNF levels may also be contingent on macronutrient intake such as the intake of fats, proteins, and carbohydrates (Molteni et al., 2002), which have been associated with sleep quality (Sanchez-Villegas et al., 2011).

Previous research has identified a moderating effect of diet and physical exercise on the relationship between BDNF levels and sleep. In an animal study, a Western diet high in fat (25% total fat) was associated with decreased BDNF levels in the hippocampus and poor sleep (Alzoubi et al., 2013). In a review by Tan et al. (2020), physical activity was correlated with increased BDNF signaling and sleep. However, potential interactions between lifestyle factors (i.e., diet and physical activity) and BDNF-related genes or SNPs and risk for sleep disturbance have been largely unexamined. This study addressed a gap in the current research literature by examining the associations between the outcome of sleep disturbance and SNPs for BDNF or its receptors along with lifestyle factors of physical activity and diet, in a large, population-based sample of older adults. Specifically, I examined whether SNPs for BDNF and its receptors moderated the relationship between physical activity/diet and sleep disturbance. Sex differences, which have not previously been examined, were explored. The present study added to the existing research by expanding knowledge of the role of lifestyle factors in combination with specific SNPs coding for BDNF and its receptors on the risk for sleep disturbances.

Chapter II

Literature Review

Insomnia is considered an umbrella term for all types of sleep disturbances. The American Academy of Sleep Medicine defines it as difficulty with sleep initiation, duration, consolidation, or quality (American Academy of Sleep Medicine [AASM], 2005). The prevalence rates of insomnia increase with age, with rates of 6.1% in children, 9.1% in adolescence, 11.3% in young adults, and 20.2% in older adults (Kocevska et al., 2021). Several epidemiological studies have also reported prevalence rates of insomnia in older adults from any cause to range between 30 - 50% (Ohayon, 2002; Peng et al., 2021; Foley et al., 2004; and Li et al., 2018). Among otherwise healthy older adults, more common causes of sleep disturbances include obstructive sleep apnea affecting between 13 and 32% (Carlisle et al., 2014), restless leg syndrome affecting between 10 to 35% (Milligan & Chesson, 2002), major depressive disorder affecting between 62-88% (Yates et al., 2004), and anxiety disorders affecting between 14–17% (Canuto et al., 2018; Norton et al., 2012; Miloyan & Pachana, 2015). Sex differences in sleep duration and quality have also been reported in older adults, with one study suggesting that women report worse sleep quality, compared to men (Bixler et al., 2002). However, other studies have suggested that women are at higher risk for insomnia (Zhang & Wing, 2006) and restless legs syndrome (Berger et al., 2004), whereas men reportedly are at higher risk for obstructive sleep apnea (Jordan & McEvoy, 2003).

Sleep disturbance may impact overall health and level of functioning with farranging effects on cardiovascular health, metabolic health, mental health, cancer, pain, overall mortality, and the immune system (Paruthi et al., 2016). Sleep disturbance has also shown an association with an increased risk of dementia and cognitive decline (Yaffe et al., 2014). Studies suggest that non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREM; stages 1 – 4), characterized by slow-wave activity (SWA), is associated with restorative physiological processes (Knyazev, 2012), while rapid eye movement (REM; stage 5) sleep is associated with the consolidation of declarative (Feld & Diekelmann, 2015) and emotional memories (Glosemeyer et al., 2020). The restorative nature of SWA sleep has been associated with sleep quality and is regarded as the best-established correlate of sleep duration and intensity (delta power; Faraguna et al., 2008).

Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) and Sleep

Biological and lifestyle factors have been associated with sleep and sleep disturbance. Neurotrophins such as brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), play a critical role in neuroplasticity, neurogenesis, and neuronal health and survival (Duman et al., 2000). BDNF has also been implicated in NREM and REM sleep. In a study by Kushikata et al. (1999), 24 male Sprague-Dawley rats and 25 male New Zealand White rabbits were injected intraventricularly with varying doses of BDNF (10 ng, 50 ng or 250 ng) and sleep patterns were monitored via surgically implanted electroencephalographic (EEG) electrodes. Moderate (50 ng) and high (250 ng) doses of BDNF increased the amount of time spent in NREM sleep in rats, but in rabbits, only the highest dose increased the amount of time spent in NREM and REM sleep (Kushikata et al., 1999). In another animal study (Faraguna et al., 2008), researchers examined the relationship between BDNF and SWA sleep on EEG. In this study, rats received one of three cortical microinjections: BDNF, K252a [a blocker of the BDNF receptor tyrosine kinase B (TrkB)], or a control "vehicle" substance. BDNF injections resulted in a significant increase of SWA sleep, whereas injection of the BDNF TrkB receptor blocker produced a blunted SWA sleep response (Faraguna et al., 2008).

Another study examined "knockout" mice lacking the TrkB receptors (n = 10) and wild-type mice (controls; n =9). Sleep was measured using polysomnographic recordings that employed both EEG and Electromyography (EMG) cables. The TrkB knockout group experienced increased REM sleep and REM bout duration, as well as reduced REM sleep latency and abnormal REM sleep regulation (Watson et al., 2015). These animal studies support the involvement of BDNF and its receptor, TrkB, in sleep regulation.

Human studies have also been conducted, examining the association between BDNF levels and sleep stages. Deuschle et al. (2018) examined middle-aged adults (mean =47.2 years of age, sd = 11.4 years) with sleep disorders: primary insomnia (n = 35), restless leg syndrome (n = 31), idiopathic hypersomnia (n = 17), and narcolepsy (n = 10) or healthy controls (n = 37). Polysomnography measured sleep integrity and brain EEG to characterize the duration of sleep stages for two consecutive nights. Assays for BDNF levels were obtained from blood. Low serum BDNF levels significantly predicted low REM sleep percentage in controls and those with a sleep disorder (Deuschle et al., 2018). Another study analyzed group differences in serum BDNF levels between sleepdisturbed participants (n = 26) and sleep-healthy participants (n = 24). Researchers found that the sleep-healthy group had significantly higher levels of BDNF than the sleepdisturbed group. Additionally, self-report of sleep quality was associated with BDNF levels with those reporting good sleep having higher serum BDNF levels compared to those reporting a sleep disturbance (Giese et al., 2013). Finally, in a study of individuals with and without insomnia, individuals who endorsed specific forms of insomnia (self-reported difficulties in initiating/maintaining sleep, early awakening, or daytime exhaustion) were divided into two groups: one with short sleep duration (SSD; sleep time < 6 hours, n = 30), and a second with normal sleep duration (NSD; sleep time ≥ 6 hours, n = 27). Compared to the NSD group, individuals in the SSD group had lower serum BDNF levels (Fan et al., 2019). Altogether, animal and human studies provide evidence for the relationship between BDNF and sleep duration and quality, with specific associations noted with the duration of slow wave and REM sleep.

Genetic factors related to BDNF have also been implicated in sleep quality. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are the simplest forms of DNA that determine the genetic variation between individuals and serve as biomarkers which may be associated with various diseases or conditions (Shastry, 2009). The BDNF gene, rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met), represents a variation in which methionine (Met) is substituted for valine (Val) at codon 66 in the pro-BDNF protein (Park et al., 2017). A study by Bachmann et al. (2012) examined the effects of BDNF Val66MET on sleep regulation, comparing Val/Met (n = 11) and Val/Val (n = 11) genotype groups. Sleep was studied over a 4-day period, with EEG recordings taken before and after 40 hours of sleep deprivation. The Val/Val genotype was linked to increased SWA in NREM sleep delta, theta and alpha activity following the 40-hour sleep deprivation when compared to the Val/Met genotype (Bachmann et al., 2012). This finding suggests that the Val/Val genotype elicited greater sleep pressure (need for sleep), and increased SWA compared to those with the Val/Met genotype. Furthermore, those with the Val/Val genotype benefitted in experiencing an average of 20 more minutes in deep sleep (normal time in

deep sleep is around 1 to 2 hours) than those with the Val/Met genotype (Bachmann et al., 2012). A similar but larger study conducted by Guindalini et al. (2014) found that carriers of the Met allele exhibited decreased theta and alpha activity during NREM sleep when compared to Val/Val carriers. While this pattern did not significantly predict sleep duration, it did suggest that BDNF genotypes are associated with observed EEG activity of the brain during sleep. This study further corroborates the proposition that the BDNF Val66MET gene plays a role in SWA sleep. To our knowledge, no other genes coding for BDNF and its receptors (TrkB or NGF), or other neurotrophins have been examined in human studies.

Lifestyle Factors, BDNF and Sleep

Lifestyle factors such as physical activity and diet have been shown to affect levels of BDNF and sleep quality. Ferris et al. (2007) explored the effects of exercise intensity on serum BDNF levels in 15 young adults (mean age = 25.4 years, sd = 1.0). Participants engaged in one of three intensities of exercise on a cycle ergometer on three separate days. When compared to the pre-exercise baseline, researchers found a significant increase of serum BDNF levels post-exercise (Ferris et al., 2007). Similarly, another study found that both acute and chronic exercise increased concentrations of BDNF in serum, which interestingly was also associated with improved performance on measures of face–name matching and Stroop Word–Color Interference (Griffin et al., 2011). Moreover, researchers have found that increased BDNF levels gained through exercise remain for several days after the activity and could be regained by reinitiating regular exercise after two weeks of inactivity (Berchtold et al., 2005).

Aerobic exercises reportedly have been associated with improved sleep quality (Wang & Youngstedt, 2014), though studies have also reported similar associations regardless of the mode and intensity of activity in middle-aged and older adults (Dolezal et al., 2017). In a comprehensive review (Dolezal et al., 2017), researchers reviewed the relationship between exercise and sleep quality in thirty-four studies. While these studies consisted of participants from a wide range of demographics and physical activity pertaining to age, health status, and type of exercise intervention, the most robust findings came from samples of middle-aged and older adults, where improved sleep efficiency and duration were reported irrespective of exercise mode or intensity (e.g., moderate to intense aerobic exercises, resistance training, or mind-body exercises) (Dolezal et al., 2017). In another systematic review and meta-analysis, researchers analyzed five randomized controlled trials that examined Tai Chi as the main intervention for improving sleep quality in older adults (Du et al., 2015). Tai Chi is a traditional Chinese form of aerobic exercise that is self-paced and is characterized by slow, controlled movement and deep breathing (Taylor-Piliae et al., 2004). All studies employed the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), a self-report measure that assesses seven sleep characteristics: sleep disturbance, sleep latency, sleep quality, subjective sleep duration, use of sleep medication, daytime dysfunction, and habitual sleep efficiency. In the metaanalysis, Tai Chi exercises had a large beneficial effect on PSQI global scores and a moderate effect on extending sleep duration and alleviating sleep disturbances (Du et al., 2015).

Studies have also found that diet can impact the regulation of BDNF levels and sleep. Molteni et al. (2002) studied the association between neurotrophins and diets rich

in saturated fat and refined sugar (high-fat sugar or HFS diet) in female rats. Reportedly, two months on an HFS diet resulted in reduced levels of BDNF in the hippocampus and poorer spatial learning performance (Molteni et al., 2002). Another study examining the effects of macronutrients on BDNF in mice found an interaction between high carbohydrate diets and Apolipoprotein E (APOE), a gene with alleles that have been well-documented as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease (Saunders et al., 1993). Specifically, mice with the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele on a high carbohydrate diet showed reduced BDNF levels and BDNF-TrkB activity in the hippocampus (Maioli et al., 2012). In contrast, healthy diets have shown the opposite effect on BDNF levels. Multiple studies have shown that diets rich in omega-3 fatty acids upregulate BDNF levels in rats (Tyagi et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2004) and flavonoid-rich foods including blueberries, green tea, or ginkgo biloba, for example, have been associated with increases in hippocampal BDNF levels and enhancements in spatial memory in 18-month-old rats (Rendeiro et al., 2013). Flavonoids are phytonutrients (plant chemicals) and have been characterized as having strong antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kicinska & Jarmuszkiewicz, 2020). Flavonoid-rich diets have been implicated in improving cognitive function in children (Barfoot et al., 2019), young adults (Whyte et al., 2019), and older adults (Bensalem et al., 2019). Additionally, flavonoids reportedly have sedative properties that may improve sleep quality (Godos et al., 2020; Fernandez et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2007). The Mediterranean-style diet is one that is rich in omega-3 fatty acids and flavonoids (Huhn et al., 2015). In a study of older adults, Sanchez-Villegas et al. (2011) found higher plasma BDNF levels among participants assigned to one of three diet groups: a control (low-fat) diet, a Mediterranean Diet with virgin olive oil (MeDiet + VOO), or with nuts (MeDiet +

Nuts). The researchers reported a 78% reduction in risk of low plasma BDNF levels in the group assigned to the MeDiet + Nuts group (Sanchez-Villegas et al., 2011). These studies suggest that diets rich in nutrients and specific macronutrients play an important role in regulating BDNF levels.

Several studies have reported a relationship between diet and sleep quality (Ikonte et al., 2019; Grandner et al., 2013). Ikonte et al. (2019) examined the relationship between short sleep duration (<7 hours) and the consumption of micronutrients. Micronutrients are defined as compounds that the body consumes in small quantities (e.g., vitamins, minerals, etc.); in contrast, macronutrients are considered the larger quantity compounds that the body requires such as carbohydrates, proteins, and fats (Savarino et al., 2021). A total of 26,287 adults, aged 19 and older were studied in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES, 2007–2008) study. Sleep was assessed from a single item, "How much sleep do you usually get at night on weekdays or workdays?" Nutritional intake was examined using "Food Only" or "Food Plus Supplement" (Food + Spp) sources. Regardless of the nutrient source, a greater percentage of individuals who reported a short sleep duration were found to have consumed inadequate amounts of copper, folate, iron, magnesium, riboflavin, zinc, and vitamins A, C, and K. Among a subgroup of middle-aged to older adults (age 51-99 years), researchers found an association between inadequate intake of vitamins A, C, D, E, and zinc and short sleep duration (Ikonte et al., 2019). These findings suggest that diets low in micronutrients are associated with poor sleep. In a separate publication from the NHANES study (Grandner et al., 2013), participants were categorized according to sleep duration into the following groups: very short (<5 hours per night), short (5–6 hours per night), normal (7–8 hours per night), and long (\geq 9 hours per night). Compared to the normal sleep duration group, those in the very short (<5 hours) group reported a lower intake of protein, carbohydrates, sugars, dietary fiber, and overall fat (Grandner et al., 2013). Similar findings on macronutrients have been reported by Lindseth et al. (2013), who also reported that diets high in protein were associated with fewer wake episodes, and diets high in carbohydrates were associated with shorter sleep latency.

In a cross-sectional study, researchers were interested in examining the benefits of the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet on sleep patterns among 1,922 men (mean age = 48.5 years) and 2,019 women (mean age = 50.1 years); Liang et al., 2020). Adherence to the DASH diet (rich in nutrients and low in sodium and fats) was associated with better sleep duration and quality (Liang et al., 2020). Furthermore, a recent review examining the impact of diet on sleep quality and duration in older adults (Gupta et al., 2021) found that adherence to the Mediterranean diet was also associated with sleep quality and quantity. Thus, the research conducted to date suggests that nutrient-rich diets that are low in saturated fats and processed meats, and higher levels of physical activity are associated with sleep duration and quality, as well as the neurotrophin, BDNF.

Summary and Research Questions

In summary, several animal and human studies have established a relationship between BDNF levels and sleep, with higher levels being associated with better sleep quality (Fan et al., 2019), elevated SWA sleep (Guindalini et al., 2014), and increased sleep duration (Fan et al., 2019). While only one SNP, rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met), has been studied with respect to sleep regulation (Bachmann et al., 2012; Guindalini et al., 2014), other neurotrophin SNPs remain to be examined. Lifestyle factors such as physical activity (Ferris et al., 2007; Griffin et al., 2011) and nutrient-rich diets (Sanchez-Villegas et al., 2011) have also been associated with peripheral BDNF levels. Moreover, physical activity (Dolezal et al., 2017; Du et al., 2015) and diet (Ikonte et al., 2019; Grandner et al., 2013) have also been associated with sleep duration or quality. Largely unexplored, however, are the potential interacting relationships between lifestyle factors and genes/SNPs for neurotrophins or their receptors and sleep or sleep disturbances. Moreover, sex differences have remained largely unexplored in these associations. The purpose of this study was to examine the associations between selected SNPs for BDNF, and its receptors and lifestyle factors of physical activity and diet and their interactions on the risk for sleep disturbance in older adult males and females. The project used extant data from a large, population-based study and addressed the following research questions:

- 1. Are SNPs that code for BDNF and its receptors associated with the occurrence of sleep disturbance in either males or females?
- 2. Are lifestyle factors of physical activity, and diet associated with sleep disturbance in either males or females?
- 3. Are there interactions between SNPs for BDNF and its receptors and lifestyle factors in their associations with sleep disturbance in either males or females?

Methods

Participants

The current study used extant data from the Cache County Study on Memory in Aging (CCSMA), a population-based, longitudinal study of the incidence and prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. The Cache County Study's design and procedures have been described in prior publications (see Miech et al., 2002; Breitner et al., 1999). Briefly, the CCSMA began in 1995 in Cache County, Utah, enrolling 5,092 (or 90%) of the county's permanent residents aged 65 years and older. Participants were followed for three subsequent triennial waves involving a multi-staged dementia screening and assessment protocol which was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Utah State University, Johns Hopkins University, Duke University, and the University of Washington.

Procedures

At baseline (Wave 1), participants were screened with an adaptation (Tschanz et al., 2002) of the 100-point modified Mini-Mental State Exam (3MS) (Teng & Chui, 1987) and completed a risk factor questionnaire regarding their occupational, education, and physical and mental health histories as well as family history of cognitive disorders, and a medication inventory. Participants also provided a buccal sample for extraction of DNA and genotyping. If participants failed to complete the 3MS, scored below 61 or less than 15 points on the orientation section, or were judged as unreliable by the interviewer, a knowledgeable informant was asked to complete the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE) (Jorm & Jacomb, 1989). Further dementia screening proceeded for those participants with a 3MS score less than 87 or IQCODE

greater than 3.27 with a telephone interview with a knowledgeable informant using the Dementia Questionnaire (DQ). For participants whose DQ interview was rated as indicative of significant cognitive impairment or possible dementia, the participant underwent a clinical assessment (CA). The CA consisted of a clinical and health interview with an informant and a neurological, neuropsychological, and physical examination of the participant. A study physician, neuropsychologist, and members of the assessment team reviewed the results of the CA to assign preliminary diagnoses of dementia or a cognitive disorder if present. Persons with working diagnoses of dementia or its prodrome were invited to complete neuroimaging, laboratory studies, an examination by a physician and an 18-month follow-up CA. The final determination of dementia and its underlying cause was made by the study's multidisciplinary panel of dementia experts (Breitner et al., 1999), according to criteria from the Diagnostic Statistical Manual-III-Revised (DSM-III-R). Various causes of dementia were determined using standard research criteria at the time (1995 – 1999; Breitner et al., 1999).

In addition to the above procedures, a mail-in questionnaire was sent to participants who scored above 60 on the 3MS in order to obtain a measure of their level of physical activity, use of dietary supplements, and dietary intake (see "Diet" below). Follow-up examinations and interviews of surviving participants without dementia were conducted in 1998-1999 (Wave II), 2002 – 2004 (Wave III) and 2005 – 2007 (Wave IV). The current project utilized data from Wave 1 only (1995 – 1998). Inclusion criteria required that participants did not have dementia (based on their onset age) or indeterminate cognitive status (did not complete appropriate dementia screening stages) at Wave 1.

Measures

Outcome Variable - Sleep Disturbance

A question on sleep disturbance, the outcome variable, was included as part of the health and medication sections of the interview. The self-report "yes/no" question, "Have you ever had sleep problems, insomnia?" was asked of each participant.

Predictor Variables

Genetic Variables

DNA from the buccal cells was processed using a polymerase chain reaction (Saunders et al., 1993) to determine the APOE genotype (Breitner et al., 1999). Genotyping for BDNF and related genes, including SNPs rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met), rs2289656 (BDNF receptor trkB), rs2072446 (BDNF receptor p75NTR), and rs56164415 (BDNF C270T), were assayed from blood DNA, or if unavailable, buccal DNA, using standard TaqMan Assays (Life Technologies; Matyi et al., 2017). Frequencies of major and minor alleles were examined to determine the representation of each SNP as homozygous for the major allele, heterozygous, and homozygous for the minor allele (i.e., AA, Aa, aa) as well as the presence or absence of the minor allele (i.e., AA vs. Aa or aa). Due to low counts of minor allele frequencies, all BDNF-related SNPs were categorized as a binary variable based on the presence or absence of the minor allele (e.g., Homozygous Major allele or Any Minor allele).

Physical Activity

Information on physical activity was collected using a mail-in, self-report questionnaire (see Appendix 1), that included three items regarding the frequency of light, moderate, and vigorous physical activity. The item querying light activity was asked as "About how many hours per day do you spend in light activity, such as walking, shopping, childcare, cooking, carrying light objects, cleaning, and repairing?"; moderate activity was asked as, "About how often do you take part in moderate physical activities including bowling, golf, light swimming, gardening, walks over 15 minutes, fishing, light bicycling, or other light sports?"; and vigorous activity was asked as, "About how often do you take part in vigorous physical activity including jogging, tennis, racquetball or squash, lap swimming, aerobics, vigorous bicycling, skiing, hiking, hunting or other vigorous sports?"

The type and amount of physical activity followed the procedures described in Sanders et al., (2020). Individuals who engaged in physical activity but who did not meet the moderate criteria were categorized as "light", and those who reported engaging in no physical activity were categorized as "sedentary". Thus, participants' engagement in physical activity was categorized as "sedentary," "light", "moderate", and "vigorous" levels. These levels were entered in statistical models as an ordinal variable.

Diet

Dietary intake was assessed by self-report mail-in questionnaire (see Appendix 1) using the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ; Willett et al., 1985). The FFQ was developed from the Nurses' Health Study (Harvard FFQ; Willett et al., 1985) and has been validated as an appropriate measure for older adults (Munger et al., 1992). This measure requires participants to report the frequency of consumption for each of 142

food items. The frequency of consumption of macronutrients and total calories is available in the CCSMA dataset (Wengreen et al., 2013) based on the application of the Food Processor Program (ESHA Research, Portland, Oregon). The Food Processor Program is a large database containing nutrient information from the USDA Nutrient Composition Table and manufacturer information. A Mediterranean-style Diet adherence "score" was conceptualized following the procedures by Wengreen et al. (2013), which incorporated consumption of 8 major food groups including: high intakes of fruit, vegetables, whole grains, fish, beans, and ratio of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) to saturated fatty acids (SFAs) and low intakes of meat and meat products and high-fat dairy products. We conducted an energy adjustment for the frequency of intake for each food group following the procedure of Willett et al. (1985) to differentiate the specific nutrient intake adjusted for total caloric intake. The Mediterranean Diet scores were calculated by ranking the above individual food components for each participant, by the amount consumed relative to others in the sample (Wengreen, H., et al., 2013). For example, if the sample consisted of 1,000 subjects, those who had consumed the highest amount of fruit would be ranked as 1,000 for the fruit score, whereas those that consumed the lowest number of fruits would be ranked as 1. This process was repeated for each of the 8 components. Similar to Wengreen and colleagues (2013), the Mediterranean diet adherence scores were categorized into quintiles of the distribution which was used as an ordinal variable in statistical analyses.

In addition to the Mediterranean diet score, I also examined specific macronutrient intake that had previously been associated with sleep duration: proteins (Grandner et al., 2013), carbohydrates (Lindseth et al., 2013), and fats (Cao et al., 2016). The amount of consumption of each macronutrient (e.g., protein, carbohydrate, fats), and alcohol was provided by the Food Processor program. Each macronutrient amount was then energy-adjusted using a method known as 'Nutrient Density' (Willett & Stampfer, 1986), in which each macronutrient intake (expressed in grams) was multiplied by the typical calories per gram for the macronutrient. The multiplier for macronutrient was as follows: proteins = 4, carbohydrates = 4, fats = 7, and alcohol = 9 (Cederbaum, 2012). Alcohol was converted to calories in order to obtain a total number of calories. The total calorie variable was created by summing the calories from each macronutrient plus alcohol. The final macronutrient variables were calculated as proportions of total calories by dividing each macronutrient intake by the total calorie intake. Total caloric intake was included as a covariate in all models exploring macronutrients.

Lastly, previous literature has suggested that flavonoids, a phytonutrient (plant chemical), are characterized as having strong antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kicinska & Jarmuszkiewicz, 2020). Flavonoid-rich foods are mostly found in fruits, vegetables, tea, and cocoa products (Godos et al., 2020) and flavonoids have been associated with improved sleep quality (Godos et al., 2020; Fernandez et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2007). Flavonoids were measured in milligrams for the present study.

Covariates

APOE genotype (Blackman et al., 2022), age (Crowley, 2011), education (Krueger & Friedman, 2009), depression status (Yates et al., 2004), and body mass index (BMI; Romero-Corral et al., 2010) were used as covariates in analyses due to their associations with sleep disturbance. APOE genotype (described under "Genetic variables" was represented as a binary variable based on presence or absence of the minor E4 allele. Age, sex and years of education were collected at the Wave 1 visit. Education was expressed as two groups: high school or less compared to more than high school, and depression status was categorized into individuals that were currently depressed versus not depressed.

Determination of depression status followed the procedures described by Steffens et al. (2000). Briefly, in the Wave 1 interview, participants were asked if they had ever experienced any of the following symptoms in their lifetime: depressed, sad, or blue mood; a loss of interest or pleasure; or irritability for nearly every day for 2 weeks or more. Those who did not endorse any of the symptoms and who were not taking any medications for depression were deemed "non-depressed." Participants who reported experiencing at least 1 of the 3 depression screening symptoms were asked follow-up questions adapted from the Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS; Robins et al., 1981). Participants also reported their age of onset of the earliest, the most recent, and the most severe depressive episodes. Criteria from the DSM-IV were used to classify individuals for all types of depression based on endorsement of the relevant symptoms including: depressed mood, reduced pleasure or interest, significant weight change (>5% body weight change in a month), insomnia or hypersomnia, psychomotor agitation, fatigue, or loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt, difficulty with concentrating or thinking, or suicidal ideation (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). A classification of Consistent with the procedures by Steffens et al. (2000), major depression required at least 5 of these symptoms persisting for at least 2 weeks, and major depression with bereavement was assigned to those experiencing the depressive episode within the context of a death of a loved one (within 8 weeks of the depressive

episode). If participants did not meet major depression criteria but endorsed chronic (over 2 years) of significantly depressed mood and at least 2 of the depressive symptoms, they were classified as experiencing dysthymia. Individuals that endorsed some depressive symptoms but did not meet criteria for clinical depression were categorized as subclinical depressive disorders. From this group, subsyndromal depression was assigned to those who endorsed a minimum of 2 depressive symptoms (Steffens et al., 2000). Presence of bereavement was also accounted for (Steffens et al., 2000). Lastly, monosymptomatic depressed mood was designated if individuals experienced mood changes for longer than 2 weeks. For this study, participants who met criteria *for any type of current depression* (except for monosymptomatic depressed mood) were categorized as positive for currently depressed, and participants who did not meet the criteria for depression were categorized as not depressed. Depression status was used as a covariate in statistical analyses due to its association with sleep disturbance (Yates et al., 2004).

Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated from self-report weight and height collected during the interview. BMI was calculated according to the formula by Keys et al. (1972):

$BMI = weight in kg / height in m^2$.

Four BMI groups were established according to BMI categories developed by the World Health Organization ([WHO]; 2000), and the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute ([NHLBI]; 1998): a value under 18.5 kg/m² was considered "under-weight," 18.5–24.9 kg/m² was considered "normal weight," 25.0–29.9 was considered "overweight," and a BMI value over 30 was considered "obese". These four groups were entered as an ordinal variable in statistical models. Note that new BMI guidelines have been created for

older adults (Winter et. al., 2014; Porter Starr & Bales, 2015), this study referred to the recommended BMI for the general population (adults 20 years old and older ([WHO]; 2000) as used in other studies of BMI and sleep disturbance (Gao et al., 2009; Romero-Corral et al., 2010; Schuld et al., 2000).

Data Analysis

To examine differences between those included vs. excluded in the analyses, t-test and chi-square tests were run on characteristics represented by continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Descriptive statistics were run on the final sample to examine differences by sex. Due to the differences between males and females on sleep disturbance (Krishnan & Collop, 2006), prior work showing sex differences on BDNFrelated SNPs and significant dietary associations between husbands and wives within married couples in this sample, analyses were run separately for each sex. For each research question, logistic regression was conducted to investigate the association between each predictor variable of interest and sleep disturbance, the outcome variable. Model building proceeded sequentially, starting with a base model that examined the association of the primary predictor of interest (e.g., BDNF SNP) and the outcome (sleep disturbance). Next, covariates were entered sequentially, and the significance of interactions of interest was tested at each step. Variables or interactions were retained if the predictor reached a significance level of p < .05 or if their inclusion was theoretically important. Covariates tested included age, BMI, level of education, APOE E4 allele, and depression. All analyses were performed using R software program (Version 1.4.1103). The analyses proceeded as follows for each research question:

For Research Question 1, the association between SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors and sleep disturbance was examined using separate logistic regression models for each primary predictor variable: rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met), rs2289656 (BDNF receptor trkB), rs2072446 (BDNF receptor p75NTR), and rs56164415 (BDNF C270T). The outcome variable was a report of sleep disturbance (presence/absence), and the covariates mentioned earlier were tested.

For Research Question 2, the association between lifestyle factors and sleep disturbance was examined using separate logistic regression models for each primary predictor variable: physical activity levels (sedentary, light, moderate, and vigorous), macronutrients (protein, fats, and carbohydrates), and Mediterranean diet adherence scores. The outcome variable was a report of sleep disturbance (yes/no), and the covariates mentioned earlier were tested.

For Research Question 3, the association between lifestyle factors and sleep disturbance was examined, considering moderation by SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors. Separate logistic regression models were run for each lifestyle factor from Research Question 2, and included interaction terms for each SNP (e.g., physical activity level x SNP) or dietary variable (e.g., Mediterranean quintile score x SNP). The outcome variable was a report of sleep disturbance (yes/no), and the covariates mentioned earlier were tested. The specific predictor variables, covariates, interactions, and outcome variables for each research question are presented in Appendix 1.

Results

Characteristics are provided for subsamples of the participants according to each research question. For research question 1 (examination of SNPs for BDNF or its

receptors and sleep disturbance), 4,427 met eligibility criteria. Specifically, of the initial 5,092 participants enrolled in the study, 359 were excluded for a positive dementia classification, 188 were excluded due to uncertain cognitive status from incomplete screening/assessment for dementia, and an additional 118 were excluded as their 3MS was at the cut-point for proxy report (60 or below). Of the eligible participants, 4,057 had data sufficient to be included in analyses. Incomplete cases were excluded sequentially due to missing data regarding the BDNF SNPs C270T (n = 272), sleep disturbance (n = 3), BMI (n = 76), APOE ε 4 genotype (n = 17), and education (n = 2) (see Figure 1). Table 1 displays basic demographic and other characteristics that differed between those included vs. excluded from the analyses for research question 1.

For lifestyle-related investigations (research questions 2 and 3), the eligible sample was reduced to 3,575 from 4,427 due to 792 individuals lacking data on the FFQ and physical activity, and an additional 60 participants were excluded due to reports of extreme energy intakes (≤ 500 or $\geq 5,000$ calories per day). Out of the 3,575 eligible participants for lifestyle-related investigations, 216 individuals were further excluded due to missing data as follows: one missing data on sleep, an additional 118 were missing sufficient information on food intake to derive Mediterranean diet scores, an additional 5 were missing physical activity data, an additional 60 were missing BMI data, and an additional 32 were missing APOE ϵ 4 genotype. The final sample size for research question 2, examining lifestyle factors and sleep disturbance was 3,359 (see Table 1). For research question 3, examining interactions between the SNPs and lifestyle factors, an additional 176 participants were excluded from the 3,359-sample size due to missing information on the BDNF SNP C270T (see Figure 1).
Table 1.

Inclusion Status for Analyses Test Total Eligible Excluded Included P-Value (n = 4,427)(n = 370)(n = 4,057)Sleep Disturbance $\chi^2: 0.53$.467 No 2688 (60.7%) 230 (62.2%) 2458 (60.6%) Yes 1736 (39.2%) 137 (37%) 1599 (39.4%) Missing 3 (0.1%) 3 (0.8%) 0 (0%) C270T* .091 χ²: 2.86 Homozygous Major allele 3679 (83.1%) 81 (21.9%) 3598 (88.7%) Any Minor allele 17 (4.6%) 459 (11.3%) 476 (10.8%) Missing 272 (73.5%) 0 (0%) 272 (6.1%) Sex χ²: 2.46 .117 1756 (43.3%) Male 1900 (42.9%) 144 (38.9%) 226 (61.1%) 2527 (57.1%) 2301 (56.7%) Female Missing 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) .391 Depression $\chi^2: 0.74$ 4211 (95.1%) 501 (96%) 3710 (95%) No Yes 216 (4.9%) 21 (4%) 195 (5%) Missing 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) Age in Years 74.86 (6.76) 75.68 (6.86) 74.78 (6.75) t: 2.45 .014 .092 Education, years χ^2 : 2.83 HS or Less 2267 (51.2%) 204 (55.1%) 2063 (50.9%) More than HS 2157 (48.7%) 163 (44.1%) 1994 (49.1%) 0 (0%) 3 (0.8%) Missing 3 (0.1%) APOE e4 Alleles .072 χ²: 3.24 3042 (68.7%) 207 (55.9%) 2835 (69.9%) None At Least One 1334 (30.1%) 112 (30.3%) 1222 (30.1%) Missing 51 (1.2%) 51 (13.8%) 0 (0%) Body Mass Index .387 χ²: 3.03 Underweight 103 (2.3%) 8 (2.2%) 95 (2.3%) Normal Weight 1754 (39.6%) 122 (33%) 1632 (40.2%) Overweight 1701 (38.4%) 119 (32.2%) 1582 (39%) 42 (11.4%) Obese 790 (17.8%) 748 (18.4%) Missing 79 (1.8%) 79 (21.4%) 0 (0%) Lifestyle Variables Included Total Excluded Test P-Value (n = 3,575)(n = 216)(n = 3,359)Physical Activity χ²: 5.44 .142 Sedentary 69 (1.9%) 8 (3.7%) 61 (1.8%) Light 976 (27.3%) 59 (27.3%) 917 (27.3%) Moderate 1996 (55.8%) 108 (50%) 1888 (56.2%) 35 (16.2%) 493 (14.7%) Vigorous 528 (14.8%) 0 (0%) Missing 6 (0.2%) 6 (2.8%) Mediterranean Diet Adherence Scores $\chi^2: 2.14$.711 14 (6.5%) 656 (19.5%) 1st Quintile (1,903-11,766) 670 (18.7%) 2nd Ouintile (11.767-13.976) 688 (19.2%) 19 (8.8%) 669 (19.9%) 3rd Quintile (13,977-15,926) 701 (19.6%) 22 (10.2%) 679 (20.2%) 698 (19.5%) 23 (10.6%) 675 (20.1%) 4th Quintile (15,927-18,264) 700 (19.6%) 20 (9.3%) 5th Quintile (18,265-29,427) 680 (20.2%) 10 (3.6%) 118 (3.3%) 108 (3.3%)* Missing .879 16.86 (3.28) 16.90 (3.96) 16.86 (3.23) t: 0.15 Protein [M (SD) % of total calories] .436 Fats [M (SD) % of total calories] 29.58 (5.84) 29.28 (6.34) 29.60 (5.80) t: -0.78 Carbohydrates [M (SD) % of total .373 53.19 (7.31) 53.62 (7.70) 53.16 (7.28) t: 0.89 calories] 14.22 (11.14) Flavonoids [M (SD) mg] t: -2.00 .045 12.75 (12.36) 14.31 (11.05)

Participant Characteristics Comparing Those Included and Excluded in Analyses

Notes: For the table above, values are reported for BDNF C270T, which had the greatest number of missing genotypes (n=272). Other SNPs with missing data include: Val66Met (n=165; χ^2 : 2.15, p = .142), Receptor p75NTR (n=177; χ^2 : 0.39, p = .534), Receptor trkB (n=188; χ^2 : 0.85, p = .356). APOE = apolipoprotein; HS = high school. *108 participants were lacking Mediterranean diet adherence scores due to missing data on food groups used to create the score, but they had sufficient data on other lifestyle variables and were thus included in the table.

Figure 1.



Notes: Flow chart of final sample for analysis. Participants included in analyses for models involving SNPs (n = 4,057), and Mediterranean diet (n = 3,359). Gray boxes represent subjects excluded from analyses at each level. 3MS = Modified Mini-Mental State Exam; FFQ = Food Frequency Questionnaire; Extreme Calories \geq 500 or \leq 5,000 calories per day.

Approximately 39% of the sample reported experiencing sleep disturbance. A significantly higher proportion of females (47% vs. 29.4% of males) and those with high school education or less reported experiencing sleep disturbance (41.7% vs. 37% of those greater than a high school education). Among those who endorsed current depression, 69.3% reported sleep disturbance, whereas 37.9% of those not depressed also reported sleep disturbance. A significantly higher proportion of individuals who reported sedentary and light physical activity also reported greater sleep disturbance (45.9% and 43.1%, respectively), compared to those who engaged in moderate and vigorous physical activity and endorsed sleep disturbance (38.2% and 33.4%, respectively). There were no significant associations between sleep disturbance and adherence to the Mediterranean diet or between sleep disturbance and SNPs for BDNF or BDNF receptors. See Table 2 for factors associated with sleep disturbance.

In examining sex differences and other participant characteristics, males were just slightly younger than females, and a greater proportion of females (63.7%) had completed less than a high school education than males (36.3%). Males and females engaged mostly moderate levels of physical activity (57.2% and 55.4%, respectively), however, 46.5% of males were considered to be overweight, while 43.6% of females were considered to be normal weight. Males had greater engagement in vigorous physical activity (57.8%) compared to females (42.2%). Significant differences were observed in adherence to the Mediterranean diet between males and females with lower adherence scores by males. Males had slightly higher mean scores for fats, while females had a slightly higher mean score for proteins, carbohydrates, and flavonoids. Table 3 displays sex differences among participant characteristics and lifestyle factors.

Table 2.

Overall Baseline Characteristics by Sleep Disturbance

		Sleep Dis	sturbance		
	Total	No	Yes	Test Statistic	P-Value
	(n = 4,057)	(n = 2,458)	(n = 1,599)		
Val66Met				$\chi^2: 0.14$.705
Homozygous Major allele	2640 (100%)	1592 (60.3%)	1048 (39.7%)		
Any Minor allele	1376 (100%)	839 (61%)	537 (39%)		
Receptor p75NTR				χ^2 : 2.25	.134
Homozygous Major allele	3656 (100%)	2204 (60.3%)	1452 (39.7%)		
Any Minor allele	331 (100%)	214 (64.7%)	117 (35.3%)		
Receptor trkB	. ,		. ,	χ^2 : 0.11	.739
Homozygous Major allele	2658 (100%)	1600 (60.2%)	1058 (39.8%)		
Any Minor allele	1324 (100%)	805 (60.8%)	519 (39.2%)		
С270Т,	. ,		. ,	χ ² : 1.15	.283
Homozygous Major allele	3598 (100%)	2191 (60.9%)	1407 (39.1%)		
Any Minor allele	459 (100%)	267 (58.2%)	192 (41.8%)		
Sex	. ,		. ,	χ^2 : 128.18	<.001
Male	1756 (100%)	1239 (70.6%)	517 (29.4%)		
Female	2301 (100%)	1219 (53%)	1082 (47%)		
Age	74.78 (6.75)	74.69 (6.70)	74.93 (6.82)	t: -1.12	.261
Depression	× ,		() /	χ^2 : 77.21	<.001
No	3858 (100%)	2397 (62.1%)	1461 (37.9%)	~	
Yes	199 (100%)	61 (30.7%)	138 (69.3%)		
Education, years	· · · · ·		()	$\chi^2: 9.28$.002
HS or less	2063 (100%)	1202 (58.3%)	861 (41.7%)	70	
More than HS	1994 (100%)	1256 (63%)	738 (37%)		
APOE ε4 Alleles		× ,		χ^2 : 1.44	.23
None	2835 (100%)	1700 (60%)	1135 (40%)	70	
At Least One	1222 (100%)	758 (62%)	464 (38%)		
Body Mass Index		~ /		$\gamma^2: 3.75$.289
Underweight	95 (100%)	59 (62.1%)	36 (37.9%)	70	
Normal Weight	1632 (100%)	985 (60.4%)	647 (39.6%)		
Overweight	1582 (100%)	981 (62%)	601 (38%)		
Obese	748 (100%)	433 (57.9%)	315 (42.1%)		
Lifestyle Variables	. , ,	Sleep Dis	sturbance		
¥	Total	No	Yes	Test Statistic	P-Value
	(n = 3,359)	(n = 2,052)	(n = 1,307)		
Physical Activity				χ ² : 15.45	.001
Sedentary	61 (100%)	33 (54.1%)	28 (45.9%)	~	
Light	917 (100%)	522 (56.9%)	395 (43.1%)		
Moderate	1888 (100%)	1167 (61.8%)	721 (38.2%)		
Vigorous	493 (100%)	330 (66.9%)	163 (33.1%)		
Mediterranean Diet Adherence				χ ² : 4.78	.311
Scores					
1 st Quintile (1,903-11,766)	656 (100%)	405 (61.7%)	251 (38.3%)		
2 nd Quintile (11,767-13,976)	669 (100%)	426 (63.7%)	243 (36.3%)		
3 rd Quintile (13,977-15,926)	679 (100%)	406 (59.8%)	273 (40.2%)		
4 th Quintile (15,927-18,264)	675 (100%)	418 (61.9%)	257 (38.1%)		
5 th Quintile (18,265-29,427)	680 (100%)	397 (58.4%)	283 (41.6%)		
Protein [M (SD) % of total	16.86 (3.23)	16.84 (3.21)	16.89 (3.26)	t: -0.42	.674
calories]					
Fats [M (SD) % of total calories]	29.60 (5.80)	29.78 (5.66)	29.31 (6.01)	t: 2.25	.025
Carbohydrates [M (SD) % of total	53.16 (7.28)	52.94 (7.19)	53.52 (7.41)	t: -2.23	.026
calories]					
Flavonoids [M (SD) mg]	14.31 (11.05)	14.37 (10.86)	14.22 (11.36)	t: 0.39	.693

Table 3.

Baseline Characteristics Stratified by Sex

		S	ex		
	Total	Male	Female	Test	P-Value
	(n = 4057)	(n = 1756)	(n = 2301)		
Val66Met				$\chi^2: 0.92$.337
Homozygous Major allele	2640 (100%)	1156 (43.8%)	1484 (56.2%)	<i>,</i> ,,	
Any Minor allele	1376 (100%)	580 (42.2%)	796 (57.8%)		
Receptor p75NTR			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	$\gamma^2: 0.22$.64
Homozygous Major allele	3656 (100%)	1580 (43.2%)	2076 (56.8%)	χ	
Any Minor allele	331 (100%)	148 (44 7%)	183 (55 3%)		
Receptor trkB	551 (10070)	110 (11.770)	105 (55.570)	$x^2 \cdot 259$	107
Homozygous Major allele	2658 (100%)	1175 (11 2%)	1483 (55.8%)	λ. 2.59	.107
Any Minor allele	1324 (100%)	549 (41 5%)	775 (58 5%)		
C270T	1524 (10070)	547 (41.570)	115 (50.570)	$x^{2} \cdot 0.01$	007
Homogugous Major allela	2508 (100%)	1550 (42 20/)	2020 (56 7%)	χ. 0.01	.907
Any Minor allala	3398(10076)	1339(43.370) 107(42.00/)	2039(30.770)		
Any Minor anele	439 (100%)	197(42.9%)	202(37.170)	4 4 7 4	< 0.01
Age	/4./8(0./5)	/4.21 (6.61)	/5.22 (6.82)	t: -4./4	<.001
Depression	2050 (1000()	1 (0.1 (12 00))	0164 (56.10/)	χ ² : 12.02	<.001
No	3858 (100%)	1694 (43.9%)	2164 (56.1%)		
Yes	199 (100%)	62 (31.2%)	137 (68.8%)		
Education, years				χ ² : 82.65	<.001
HS or less	2063 (100%)	749 (36.3%)	1314 (63.7%)		
More than HS	1994 (100%)	1007 (50.5%)	987 (49.5%)		
APOE ε4 Alleles				χ ² : 0.15	.700
None	2835 (100%)	1221 (43.1%)	1614 (56.9%)		
At Least One	1222 (100%)	535 (43.8%)	687 (56.2%)		
Body Mass Index				χ²: 90.87	<.001
Underweight	95 (2.3%)	16 (0.9%)	79 (3.4%)		
Normal Weight	1632 (40.2%)	629 (35.8%)	1003 (43.6%)		
Overweight	1582 (39%)	816 (46.5%)	766 (33.3%)		
Obese	748 (18.4%)	295 (16.8%)	453 (19.7%)		
Lifestyle Variables					
	Total	Male	Female	Test	P-Value
	(n = 3.359)	(n = 1.459)	(n = 1.900)	1050	i vulue
Physical Activity	(1 0,00)	(1 1,10))	(1 1,500)	v ² · 73 63	< 001
Sedentary	61 (1.8%)	25 (1.7%)	36(1.9%)	λ. 15.05	4.001
Light	017(27.3%)	23(1.770) 314(21.5%)	603 (31 7%)		
Light	917(27.570) 1999(56.20/)	314(21.370) 825(57.20/)	1052(55.7%)		
Moderate	1000 (30.270) 402 (14.704)	285(37.270)	1033(33.470) 208(10.0%)		
Vigorous	495 (14.7%)	285 (19.5%)	208 (10.9%)	.2. (1.12	< 001
Niedilerranean Diel Adherence				χ=: 61.12	<.001
	(5((1000/)	240 (52 20/)	207 (16 90/)		
1^{st} Quintile (1,903-11,766)	636 (100%)	349 (33.2%)	307 (40.8%)		
2^{nu} Quintile (11, /6/-13,9/6)	009 (100%)	522 (48.1%)	547 (51.9%)		
3^{ra} Quintile (13,977-15,926)	679 (100%)	298 (43.9%)	381 (56.1%)		
4 th Quintile (15,927-18,264)	675 (100%)	250 (37%)	425 (63%)		
5 th Quintile (18,265-29,427)	680 (100%)	240 (35.3%)	440 (64.7%)		
Protein [M (SD) % of total	16.86 (3.23)	16.56 (3.03)	17.09 (3.36)	t: -4.72	<.001
calories]					
Fats [M (SD) % of total	29.60 (5.80)	30.32 (5.69)	29.04 (5.83)	t: 6.34	<.001
calories]					
Carbohydrates [M (SD) % of	53.16 (7.28)	52.48 (7.28)	53.69 (7.24)	t: -4.82	<.001
total calories]					
Flavonoids [M (SD) mg]	14.31 (11.05)	13.34 (9.89)	15.06 (11.82)	t: -4.6	<.001

Logistic Regression Models

SNPs for BDNF or its receptors and Sleep Disturbance

Separate binary logistic regression models examined the association of individual BDNF/ receptor-related SNPs and sleep disturbance for each sex. In males, presence of the minor allele of each SNP was not significantly associated with sleep disturbance compared to the homozygous major alleles: Val66Met (OR = 1.08, 95% CI = [0.87; 1.34], p = .479), Receptor p75NTR (OR = 0.73, 95% CI = [0.49; 1.06], p = .105), Receptor trkB (OR = 0.88, 95% CI = [0.70; 1.10], p = .266), C270T (OR = 1.17, 95% CI = [0.85; 1.60], p = .34). Similar results were obtained among females: Val66Met (OR = 0.90, 95% CI = [0.76; 1.07], p = .216), Receptor p75NTR (OR = 0.94, 95% CI = [0.69; 1.27], p = .665), Receptor trkB (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = [0.85; 1.20], p = .919), C270T (OR = 1.07, 95% CI = [0.83; 1.39], p = .59). The results did not change with the inclusion of significant covariates (see tables 4 and 5 for the covariate-adjusted models). Depression had a three-fold increase in the odds of sleep disturbance; no other covariate was significant in any of the models examining BDNF-related SNPs.

Table 4.

Males: Fully adjusted Logistic Regression Models Comparisons for Sleep Disturbance

	Val66M	et	Receptor p7	$75^{\rm NTR}$	Receptor tr	<u>kB</u>	<u>C270T</u>	
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.
(Intercept)	0.40 [0.35; 0.45]	<.001***	0.46 [0.37; 0.58]	<.001***	0.43 [0.38; 0.48]	<.001***	0.40 [0.36; 0.45]	<.001***
Depression	3.74 [2.25; 6.33]	<.001***	3.75 [2.25; 6.35]	<.001***	3.74 [2.24; 6.33]	<.001***	3.63 [2.17; 6.16]	<.001***
Val66Met ^a	1.08 [0.87; 1.34]	.479						
Receptor p75 ^{NTRa}			0.73 [0.49; 1.06]	.105				
Receptor trkB ^a					0.88 [0.70; 1.10]	.266		
C270T ^a							1.17 [0.85; 1.60]	.34
Sample size	1781		1764		1761		1756	
***	*		C 11 1					

Associated with BDNF-related SNPs

*** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; *p < 0.05; a Any Minor allele

Table 5.

Females: Fully adjusted Logistic Regression Models Comparisons for Sleep Disturbance

Associated with BDNF SNPs

	Val66Met		Receptor p75 ^{NTR}		Receptor t	rkB	<u>C270T</u>	
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.
(Intercept)	0.87 [0.78; 0.96]	.004**	0.83 [0.76; 0.91]	<.001***	0.83 [0.75; 0.92]	<.001***	0.83 [0.76; 0.90]	<.001***
Currently	3.52 [2.40; 5.29]	<.001***	3.45 [2.37; 5.16]	<.001***	3.48 [2.38; 5.23]	<.001***	3.36 [2.30; 5.03]	<.001***
Depressed								
Val66Met ^a	0.90 [0.76; 1.07]	.216						
Receptor p75 ^{NTRa}			0.94 [0.69; 1.27]	0.665				
Receptor trkB ^a					1.01 [0.85; 1.20]	0.919		
C270T ^a							1.07 [0.83; 1.39]	0.59
Sample size	2342		2319		2307		2301	

*** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; *p < 0.05; * Any Minor allele

Lifestyle Factors

Physical Activity

Among males, increasing level of physical activity (sedentary, light, moderate and vigorous) was significantly associated with a lower risk of sleep disturbance (OR = 0.82, 95% CI = [0.70; 0.96]; p = .015), and remained significant with the inclusion of covariates (OR = 0.82, 95% CI = [0.71; 0.97]; p = .023). Thus, engagement in each higher level of physical activity was associated with an 18% reduction in odds of sleep disturbance in males. Among females however, level of physical activity was not associated with sleep disturbance in either bivariate (p = .145) or covariate-adjusted models (p = .343). Again, only depression was associated with sleep disturbance in both males and females. See Tables 6 and 7 for the results of physical activity and sleep disturbance in males and females, respectively.

Mediterranean Diet

Adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with increased odds of sleep disturbance in males, (OR = 1.08, 95% CI = [1.00; 1.18]; p = .047), but not in females (p = .227). With each increase in quintile (of adherence) to the Mediterranean diet, male participants had an 8% higher odds of reporting sleep disturbance. Again, depression was associated with more than a three-fold increase in risk of sleep disturbance; no other covariates were significant.

Macronutrients

For males, consumption of proteins (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = [0.98; 1.05]; p = .428), carbohydrates (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = [0.99; 1.02]; p = .261) or fats (OR = 0.98, 95% CI = [0.97; 1.00]; p = .116) was not significantly associated with sleep disturbance in bivariate

or covariate-adjusted models. Results were similar among females: proteins (OR = 0.99, 95% CI = [0.97; 1.02]; p = .622), carbohydrates (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = [0.99; 1.02]; p = .348) and fats (OR = 1.00, 95% CI = [0.98; 1.01]; p = .619) (see Table 6 and Table 7). Again, depression was associated with more than a three-fold increase in risk of sleep disturbance in both males and females; no other covariates were significantly associated with sleep disturbance.

Flavonoids

Consumption of flavonoids was not significantly associated with sleep disturbance in bivariate or covariate-adjusted models in males (OR = 1.01, 95% CI = [0.99; 1.02]; p = .396) or in females (OR = 0.99, 95% CI = [0.98; 1.00]; p = .059). Again, amongst covariates, depression was associated with three times the odds of sleep disturbance in both males and females. No other covariate was found to be significantly associated with sleep disturbance. Tables 6 and 7 display the results of the final analyses for research question 2.

Table 6.

Males: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Sleep Disturbance Associated with Lifestyle factors

	<u> </u>	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	0		2	1				2		
	Physical Ac	<u>tivity</u>	Mediterranea	n Diet	Protein		Fats		Carbohydrates		Flavonoids	
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.
(Intercept)	0.66 [0.38; 1.14]	.138	0.31 [0.20; 0.47]	<.001***	0.30 [0.15; 0.61]	<.001***	0.61 [0.32; 1.17]	.136	0.24 [0.10; 0.58]	.002**	0.39 [0.28; 0.53]	<.001***
Depression	3.24 [1.78; 6.01]	<.001***	3.59 [1.98; 6.64]	<.001***	3.38 [1.86; 6.25]	<.001***	3.34 [1.84; 6.19]	<.001***	3.34 [1.84; 6.19]	<.001***	3.36 [1.85; 6.22]	<.001***
Total Calories ^a	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.653	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.745								
Nutrient											1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.928
Calories ^b					1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.659	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.602	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.663		
Physical	0.83 [0.71; 0.97]	.023*										
Activity												
Mediterranean			1.08 [1.00; 1.18]	.047*								
Diet												
Proteins					1.01 [0.98; 1.05]	.428						
Fats							0.98 [0.97; 1.00]	.116				
Carbohydrates									1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.261		
Flavonoids											1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.396
Sample size	1500		1489		1501		1501		1501		1501	

^a Total Calories used for the Mediterranean models. ^b Nutrient Calories accounted for alcohol in macronutrients and flavonoids.

Table 7.

Females: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Sleep Disturbance Associated with Lifestyle factors

	Physical Act	tivity	Mediterranear	n Diet	Protein	- <u>r</u>	Fats		Carbohydrates		Flavonoids	
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.
(Intercept)	0.98 [0.64; 1.51]	.923	0.97 [0.69; 1.36]	.871	0.92 [0.55; 1.53]	.737	0.91 [0.56; 1.49]	.708	0.59 [0.29; 1.21]	.153	0.82 [0.64; 1.05]	.12
Depression	3.02 [1.95; 4.81]	<.001***	3.15 [2.02; 5.04]	<.001***	3.08 [1.99; 4.90]	<.001***	3.08 [1.99; 4.90]	<.001***	3.09 [2.00; 4.92]	<.001***	3.08 [1.99; 4.90]	<.001***
Total Calories ^a	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.946	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.569								
Nutrient Calories ^b					1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.855	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.908	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.913	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.395
Physical Activity	0.94 [0.82; 1.07]	.343										
Mediterranean			0.96 [0.90; 1.02]	.227								
Proteins					0 99 [0 97 • 1 02]	622						
Fats							1.00 [0.98; 1.01]	.619				
Carbohydrates									1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.348		
Flavonoids											0.99 [0.98; 1.00]	.059
Sample size	1973		1967		1978		1978		1978		1978	

^a Total Calories used for the Mediterranean models. ^b Nutrient Calories accounted for alcohol in macronutrients and flavonoids.

Interactions: SNPs for BDNF or its receptors and Lifestyle Factors in their Association with Sleep Disturbance

SNPs and Physical Activity

An examination of the interactions between individual BDNF/receptor-related SNPs and physical activity yielded no significant associations with sleep disturbance in either sex, with the inclusion of depression as a covariate. Among males, the interaction p-values were as follows: Val66Met (interaction p = .899), Receptor p75NTR (interaction p = .375), Receptor trkB (interaction p = .314), C270T (interaction p = .44). See Table 8 for model parameter estimates for males.

Among females there was a trend for an interaction between Val66Met and physical activity (interaction p = .088). Prior to examining the nature of the interaction, levels of physical activity were recategorized due to low cell sizes (only 16 females with the minor allele who were sedentary) into a dichotomous set of levels (sedentary/light, and moderate/vigorous). Among females with a Val66Met minor allele, those with sedentary/light physical activity had a 45% increased risk of sleep disturbance compared to those with moderate/vigorous physical activity (OR = 1.45, 95% CI = [1.05; 2.00]; p = .026). None of the interactions between the other SNPS and physical activity were significant: Receptor p75NTR (interaction p = .610), Receptor trkB (interaction p = .0.678), C270T (interaction p = .235). See Table 9 for model parameter estimates for females.

SNPs and Mediterranean Diet and Other Dietary Variables

No significant associations were found with sleep disturbance in the interactions between individual BDNF/receptor-related SNPs and the Mediterranean Diet adherence scores in males: Val66Met (interaction p = .954), Receptor p75NTR (interaction p = .954) .719), Receptor trkB (interaction p = .340), C270T (interaction p = .789), or in females: Val66Met (interaction p = .767), Receptor p75NTR (interaction p = .727), Receptor trkB (interaction p = .707), C270T (interaction p = .674). No significant interactions were found between the BDNF receptor-related SNPs and the amount of consumption of protein, carbohydrates, fats or flavonoids and sleep disturbance for males or females. Tables 8 and 9 display the covariate-adjusted analyses for research question 3.

Table 8.

Males: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Interactions between BDNF

Val66Met			Receptor p	75 ^{NTR}	Receptor	trkB	<u>C2701</u>	<u>C270T</u>	
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	
(Intercept)	0.89 [0.75; 1.05]	<.001 ***	0.45 [0.36; 0.57]	<.001 ***	0.46 [0.36; 0.58]	<.001 ***	0.43 [0.34; 0.54]	<.001 ***	
Depression	3.50 [2.38; 5.25]	<.001 ***	3.61 [2.16; 6.14]	<.001 ***	3.61 [2.16; 6.14]	<.001 ***	3.62 [2.16; 6.15]	<.001 ***	
Total Calories ^a	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.897	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.827	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.689	3.27 [1.78; 6.10]	.659	
SNP	1.06 [0.38; 2.98]	.907	0.39 [0.07; 2.16]	.290	1.53 [0.53; 4.46]	.43	2.03 [0.48; 8.71]	.337	
Physical Activity	0.80 [0.65; 0.98]	.023 *	0.79 [0.66; 0.94]	.007 **	0.86 [0.70; 1.05]	.128	0.82 [0.69; 0.98]	.029 *	
Physical Activity*SNP	0.98 [0.69; 1.38]	.899	1.29 [0.74; 2.27]	.375	0.83 [0.58; 1.19]	.314	0.83 [0.50; 1.34]	.44	
SNP	1.04 [0.60; 1.79]	.899	0.68 [0.26; 1.72]	.433	0.68 [0.38; 1.21]	.193	1.21 [0.54; 2.60]	.635	
Medi	1.08 [0.98; 1.20]	.130	1.09 [1.00; 1.18]	.060	1.06 [0.96; 1.17]	.231	1.09 [1.00; 1.19]	.049 *	
Medi*SNP	0.99 [0.84; 1.18]	.954	1.05 [0.79; 1.41]	.719	1.09 [0.91; 1.31]	.34	0.97 [0.75; 1.24]	.789	
Nutrient Calories ^b	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.841	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.749	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.631	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.648	
SNP	0.74 [0.20; 2.75]	.651	0.34 [0.04; 2.84]	.322	0.77 [0.20; 2.98]	.705	1.44 [0.22; 9.28]	.703	
Protein	1.00 [0.96; 1.05]	.899	1.01 [0.97; 1.05]	.74	1.01 [0.97; 1.06]	.624	1.02 [0.98; 1.06]	.432	
Protein*SNP	1.02 [0.94; 1.10]	.631	1.05 [0.93; 1.20]	.407	1.01 [0.93; 1.09]	.836	0.99 [0.88; 1.10]	.822	
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.83	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.767	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.637	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.658	
SNP	1.34 [0.24; 7.57]	.738	0.26 [0.02; 3.58]	.33	1.06 [0.17; 6.45]	.949	0.98 [0.07; 13.04]	.989	
Carbs	1.01 [0.99; 1.03]	.296	1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.447	1.01 [0.99; 1.03]	.375	1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.374	
Carbs*SNP	0.99 [0.96; 1.03]	.744	1.02 [0.97; 1.07]	.402	1.00 [0.96; 1.03]	.85	1.00 [0.96; 1.05]	.896	
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.775	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.678	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.582	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.602	
SNP	0.97 [0.27; 3.46]	.959	2.42 [0.38; 15.44]	.347	0.72 [0.18; 2.86]	.646	1.37 [0.21; 8.88]	.74	
Fats	0.99 [0.96; 1.01]	.257	0.99 [0.97; 1.01]	.312	0.99 [0.96; 1.01]	.202	0.99 [0.97; 1.01]	.207	
Fats*SNP	1.00 [0.96; 1.04]	.944	0.96 [0.90; 1.02]	.234	1.01 [0.96; 1.05]	.767	0.99 [0.93; 1.06]	.858	
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.819	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.814	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.979	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.947	
SNP	1.26 [0.85; 1.88]	.252	0.97 [0.48; 1.92]	.932	0.79 [0.52; 1.21]	.280	1.62 [0.92; 2.87]	.095	
Flavonoids	1.01 [1.00; 1.03]	.157	1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.252	1.00 [0.99; 1.02]	.703	1.01 [1.00; 1.02]	.155	
Flavonoids*SNP	0.98 [0.96; 1.01]	.167	0.99 [0.95; 1.02]	.532	1.01 [0.98; 1.04]	.501	0.98 [0.94; 1.01]	.157	
Sample size.	1408		1396		1392		1387		

receptor-related SNPs and Lifestvle Factors on Sleep Disturbance

^a Total Calories used for the Mediterranean models. ^b Nutrient Calories accounted for alcohol in macronutrients and flavonoid models.

Table 9.

Females: Covariate-adjusted Logistic Regression Models for Interactions between BDNF

receptor-related SNPs and Lifestyle Factors on Sleep Disturbance

	Val66M	et	Receptor	p75 ^{NTR}				
Variable	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.	OR [CI]	Sig.
(Intercept)	1.06 [0.72; 1.56]	.785	1.09 [0.76; 1.56]	.649	1.03 [0.70; 1.51]	.898	1.04 [0.73; 1.49]	.825
Depression	3.02 [1.91; 4.94]	<.001***	2.93 [1.85; 4.75]	<.001***	3.03 [1.91; 4.95]	<.001***	2.91 [1.84; 4.72]	<.001***
Total Calories ^a	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.415	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.788	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.358	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.492
SNP	1.06 [0.38; 2.98]	.155	1.79 [0.80; 3.99]	.728	0.85 [0.38; 1.93]	.704	2.00 [0.61; 6.73]	.256
Physical Activity	0.80 [0.65; 0.98]	.727	1.03 [0.87; 1.22]	.421	0.92 [0.77; 1.09]	.324	0.98 [0.84; 1.13]	.751
Physical Activity*SNP	0.78 [0.59; 1.04]	.088	1.29 [0.74; 2.27]	.610	1.06 [0.80; 1.42]	.678	0.77 [0.50; 1.18]	.235
SNP	0.97 [0.60; 1.57]	.89	0.79 [0.33; 1.86]	.596	1.11 [0.67; 1.82]	.687	0.83 [0.40; 1.72]	.616
Medi	0.97 [0.89; 1.05]	.417	0.94 [0.88; 1.01]	.111	0.97 [0.89; 1.05]	.396	0.95 [0.89; 1.03]	.203
Medi*SNP	0.98 [0.85; 1.13]	.767	1.04 [0.82; 1.33]	.727	0.97 [0.84; 1.12]	.707	1.05 [0.85; 1.29]	.674
Nutrient Calories ^b	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.984	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.827	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.712	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.695
SNP	0.51 [0.19; 1.34]	.173	0.43 [0.08; 2.34]	.333	0.58 [0.21; 1.58]	.284	0.37 [0.08; 1.73]	.208
Protein	0.98 [0.95; 1.01]	.272	0.99 [0.96; 1.02]	.497	0.98 [0.95; 1.02]	.3	0.99 [0.96; 1.01]	.318
Protein*SNP	1.03 [0.98; 1.09]	.229	1.04 [0.95; 1.15]	.398	1.03 [0.97; 1.09]	.276	1.06 [0.97; 1.16]	.203
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.989	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.886	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.734	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.838
SNP	2.41 [0.60; 9.78]	.216	2.44 [0.22; 28.15]	.465	2.04 [0.49; 8.40]	.325	0.63 [0.07; 5.76]	.683
Carbs	1.01 [1.00; 1.03]	.115	1.01 [1.00; 1.02]	.205	1.01 [1.00; 1.03]	.132	1.01 [0.99; 1.02]	.345
Carbs*SNP	0.98 [0.96; 1.01]	.168	0.98 [0.94; 1.03]	.401	0.99 [0.96; 1.01]	.317	1.01 [0.97; 1.05]	.686
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.979	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.885	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.727	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.847
SNP	0.58 [0.23; 1.48]	.256	0.47 [0.09; 2.41]	.366	0.73 [0.28; 1.88]	.515	2.40 [0.54; 11.00]	.253
Fats	0.99 [0.97; 1.01]	.317	0.99 [0.98; 1.01]	.365	0.99 [0.97; 1.01]	.324	1.00 [0.98; 1.01]	.791
Fats*SNP	1.02 [0.98; 1.05]	.336	1.02 [0.97; 1.08]	.439	1.01 [0.98; 1.04]	.511	0.97 [0.92; 1.02]	.24
Nutrient Calories	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.405	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.586	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	0.578	1.00 [1.00; 1.00]	.579
SNP	0.93 [0.69; 1.27]	.663	0.84 [0.49; 1.42]	.512	0.85 [0.62; 1.17]	.325	0.93 [0.59; 1.47]	.766
Flavonoids	0.99 [0.98; 1.00]	.176	0.99 [0.98; 1.00]	.121	0.99 [0.98; 1.00]	.032*	0.99 [0.98; 1.00]	.085
Flavonoids*SNP	1.00 [0.98; 1.01]	.789	1.00 [0.98; 1.03]	.724	1.01 [0.99; 1.03]	.216	1.00 [0.98; 1.03]	.751
Sample size.	1784		1814		1818		1799	

^a Total Calories used for the Mediterranean models. ^b Nutrient Calories accounted for

alcohol in macronutrients and flavonoid models.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the associations between selected BDNF-related SNPs, and lifestyle factors of physical activity and diet and their interactions on the risk for sleep disturbance in older adults. BDNF-related SNPs were not significantly associated with sleep disturbance in either males or females. Among lifestyle factors, males exhibited reduced risk for sleep disturbance with increasing engagement in physical activity but increased sleep disturbance with greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet. Finally, SNPs for BDNF or its receptors did not significantly interact with lifestyle factors and sleep disturbance, except among females there was a trend for minor allele carriers of Val66Met reporting sedentary-to-light physical activity exhibiting increased risk of sleep disturbance compared to those reporting moderate-tovigorous physical activity.

Very few studies have examined BDNF-related genes and their relationship with sleep disturbance. Some research has been conducted with one SNP, Val66Met and some aspects of sleep. For example, there was no association between Val66Met genotypes with report of subjective sleepiness (e.g., general experiences of sleepiness at a given moment) in younger adults (Bachmann et al., 2012). However, one study reported Val66Met homozygotes (Val/Val) exhibited increased EEG slow wave activity (an established physiological marker of sleep need in the early stages of NREM sleep) compared to Val66Met heterozygotes (Bachmann et al., 2012). It may be possible that BDNF SNPs are associated with specific sleep characteristics rather than global aspects of sleep.

However, previous studies have suggested that circulating BDNF (measured in blood serum) plays a role in insomnia (Giese et al., 2014) or sleep duration (Fan et al., 2019). Specifically, in middle-aged study participants, lower serum BDNF levels were associated with insomnia (Giese et al., 2014), and in another study, middle-aged adults with short sleep duration (sleep time < 6 hours) had lower serum BDNF levels compared to those with normal sleep duration (sleep time ≥ 6 hours; Fan et al., 2019). Serum BDNF levels were not available in the Cache County Study sample and thus the current results cannot be directly compared to these studies. Additionally, the above studies were conducted with middle-aged adults, whereas my study sample consisted of individuals above age 65. Age differences may be notable as prevalence rates of insomnia are higher (Kocevska et al., 2021) and BDNF levels are lower (Erickson et al., (2010) in older adults. Additionally, the relationship between BDNF genotypes and peripheral BDNF levels is unclear. For example, val66MET genotypes have not been associated with peripheral BDNF levels in previous studies [see study and meta-analysis by Terracciano and colleagues (Terracciano et al., 2013)].

Physical Activity

Previous studies in older adults have suggested a significant association between physical activity (regardless of intensity) and sleep efficiency and duration (Dolezal, B. A., et. al., 2017; Du, S., et. al., 2015). In a systematic review by the Du et al. (2015), researchers analyzed five randomized controlled trials that examined Tai Chi as the main intervention for improving sleep quality in older adults (Du et al., 2015). All of these studies reported that Tai Chi exercise had a significant effect in improving subjective sleep ratings in older adults on the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (Irwin et al., 2008; Li et al., 2004; Liu and Yao, 2010) or on a global measure of sleep quality (Hosseini et al., 2011; Nguyen and Kruse 2012).

In the current study, increasing levels of physical activity was associated with reduced sleep disturbance, but only among men. Sex differences observed here may reflect the overall lower frequency of moderate/vigorous physical activity among females in this sample or the potential moderating role of BDNF-related SNPs (see interaction discussed below). While sex differences and BDNF levels have not been well-researched, one study suggested that physical activity raises BDNF levels more prominently in young adult males than females (Dinoff et al., 2017). Future research on sex differences is needed to explore whether such differences exist for older adults and the intensity or type of physical activity that may promote BDNF secretion.

Diet

Previous studies on the Mediterranean diet and sleep have found that greater adherence was associated with greater sleep quality and quantity (Campanini et al., 2017; Mamalaki et al., 2018). Specifically, among non-institutionalized older adults living in Spain, greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with a 32% lower risk of poor sleep quality (Campanini et al., 2017). Similarly, in a population-based study of older adults residing in France, for each one-unit increase in the Mediterranean diet score, there was an estimated 8.7% increase in sleep quality (Mamalaki et al., 2018). In the current study, unexpectedly, greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with *increased* sleep disturbance in males only. It is unclear what underlies this association, but the effect was small (8% increase for each quintile increase in the Mediterranean diet score). Females, who as a group had greater overall adherence to the Mediterranean diet compared to males, did not show an association between diet and sleep disturbance. One unexplored factor that may contribute to the discrepant results between males and females and the unexpected findings in males is the overall timing of meals and snacks. A previous study reported that compared to females, males tend to consume more calories in late-night hours (Spaeth et al., 2014), which may have a disruptive effect on sleep (Chung et al., 2020).

With respect to macronutrients, I found no significant associations between the intake of proteins, carbohydrates or fats and sleep disturbance. This is not consistent with a prior study that showed individuals with lower intake of each of these macronutrients experience shorter sleep duration compared to individuals with normal sleep duration (Grandner, M.A. et. al., 2013). Furthermore, diets high in protein have been associated with fewer awakenings, and diets high in carbohydrates have been associated with shorter sleep latency (i.e., falling asleep quicker; Lindseth et al., 2013). Of note, these studies utilized a more detailed scale in the assessment of sleep duration (Grandner, 2013; Lindseth et al., 2013), as compared with the present study that queried the presence or absence of sleep disturbance.

In the present study, there was a trend (p = .059) where increasing flavonoid intake was associated with a 1% reduction in the odds of sleep disturbance among females only. Flavonoids are phytonutrients found in foods such as tea, wine, leafy greens, onions, apples, berries, and cherries (Harborne & Williams, 2000; Liu, 2013). They are characterized as having strong antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kicinska & Jarmuszkiewicz, 2020) and have been associated with improved sleep quality in other studies (Godos et al., 2020; Fernandez et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2007). Flavonoid intake was not significantly associated with sleep disturbance among males, though it is noteworthy that intake was significantly lower in males (with less variability) compared to females. Intake thus, may have been insufficient in males to exert potential beneficial effects.

Interactions

Interactions between BDNF receptor-related SNPs and lifestyle factors yielded no significant associations with sleep disturbance in either males or females, except for a trend among females for Val66Met and physical activity. No studies have examined BDNF related SNPs and lifestyle factors on sleep disturbance. In the current study, significant results (p = .026) indicated that female carriers of the minor allele of val66MET, who engaged in lower levels of physical activity, had a 45% greater risk of sleep disturbances. As discussed above, there is evidence that BDNF levels affect sleep (Deuschle et al. (2018) and that physical exercise increases serum BDNF levels (Schmolesky et al., 2013). Thus, some studies support a relationship individually between serum BDNF levels and physical activity and BDNF levels and sleep. The interaction discussed above may suggest a moderating role of the val66MET genotype on the association between physical activity and sleep disturbance in females. Clearly, more research is needed to further explore these associations.

Strengths and Limitations

The current study had a number of strengths including a high participation rate (90% enrollment) from a large, population-based sample. The current study also examined four SNPs related to BDNF or its receptors and life-style factors while examining sex differences, all of which have been largely unexplored.

Limitations included the reliance of a single question of the presence/absence of sleep disturbance, which by its nature did not allow for an examination of underlying causes (e.g., obstructive sleep apnea or restless leg syndrome), which may be less associated with BDNF-related mechanisms for sleep. Also unexplored were other factors that may affect sleep such as medications or caffeine consumption. The study's population homogeneity—predominantly white, of Northern European heritage and predominant religious group of Latter-Day Saints -also hampers generalizability to culturally diverse groups or other racial groups. The latter may be relevant for BDNFrelated SNPS as previous research has suggested population differences in minor allele frequencies [e.g., the proportion of Met allele carriers of the Val66Met BDNF gene is significantly higher in Asians than that in Caucasians (Chu et al., 2022)]. Additionally, other factors related to sleep were not examined including socioeconomic status nor time of day of physical activity or meals and snacks. Previous research has suggested that lower incomes are associated with shorter duration of sleep, higher body mass index, and consumption of food with lower nutrient contents (Grandner et. al., 2013). Additionally, as noted previously, time of day for physical activity or mealtimes may impact sleep (Yamanaka et al., 2015).

Future Directions

Given the multifactorial nature of sleep disturbances in older adults, it is recommended that future research adopt a comprehensive perspective. For future studies exploring the role of BDNF-related genes and sleep, measurements of circulating levels of BDNF in serum may be an important addition to explicate associations (or lack thereof) between sleep disturbance and SNPs for BDNF or its receptors, BDNF levels

and sleep disturbance as well as the role of diet and exercise in sleep duration and quality and their interactions with BDNF/receptor related SNPs. This dual focus may provide a more nuanced understanding of the mechanisms underlying associations in combination with lifestyle factors on sleep disturbances. Future researchers may wish to explore the role micronutrients such as vitamins and minerals have on sleep duration. Although the Mediterranean diet is rich with micronutrients (Castro-Quezada, I., et al., 2014), our study did not examine specific micronutrients or the use of dietary supplements. Previous studies have reported associations between inadequate intake of vitamins A, C, D, E, and zinc and short sleep duration (Ikonte et al., 2019; Grandner et al., 2013). Future research may also greatly benefit from incorporating physiological measures and objective measures of sleep such as sleep EEG which would allow one to examine different stages of sleep such as NREM and REM alongside a subjective measure of sleep quality such as the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (Buysse et al., 1989). Doing so may offer the potential to capture characteristics of sleep quality with greater precision and depth. An exploration of sleep patterns such as differentiating between daytime napping and nocturnal sleep may also be relevant to the study of sleep quality and sleep disturbances. In the face of the significant numbers of older adults affected by insomnia (ranging between 30 - 50%; Peng et al., 202; Li et al., 2018), continued research in this field may identify modifiable factors and potential interventions to improve the quality of life for countless older adults and healthier aging for all.

References

- Alzoubi, K. H., Khabour, O. F., Salah, H. A., & Abu Rashid, B. E. (2013). The combined effect of sleep deprivation and Western diet on spatial learning and memory: role of BDNF and oxidative stress. Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN, 50(1), 124–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-012-9881-7
- American Academy of Sleep Medicine. (2005). International classification of sleep disorders. Diagnostic and coding manual, 51-55.
- American Psychiatric Association (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., Text Revision). Washington, DC: Author.
- Bachmann, V., Klein, C., Bodenmann, S., Schafer N, Berger W, Brugger P, et al. (2012)
 The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism modulates sleep intensity: EEG frequencyand state- specificity. Sleep. 2012;35:335–44
- Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., & Medina, J. H. (2014). BDNF and memory processing. Neuropharmacology, 76 Pt C, 677–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.024
- Berger, K., Luedemann, J., Trenkwalder, C., John, U., & Kessler, C. (2004). Sex and the risk of restless legs syndrome in the general population. Archives of internal medicine, 164(2), 196–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.164.2.196</u>
- Bertisch, S. M., Sillau, S., de Boer, I. H., Szklo, M., & Redline, S. (2015). 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration and Sleep Duration and Continuity: Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Sleep, 38(8), 1305–1311. <u>https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.4914</u>

- Bixler, E. O., Vgontzas, A. N., Lin, H. M., Vela-Bueno, A., & Kales, A. (2002).
 Insomnia in central Pennsylvania. Journal of psychosomatic research, 53(1), 589– 592. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3999(02)00450-6
- Breitner JC, Wyse BW, Anthony JC, et al. APOE-epsilon4 count predicts age when prevalence of AD increases, then declines: The Cache County Study. Neurology. 1999;53(2):321–331. doi:10.1212/wnl.53.2.321
- Brill JB. Mediterranean diet. Am J Lifestyle Medicine 2008;3:44-56.
- Buman, M. P., & King, A. C. (2010). Exercise as a Treatment to Enhance Sleep.
 American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 4(6), 500–514.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827610375532
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., 3rd, Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry research, 28(2), 193–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4</u>
- Canuto, A., Weber, K., Baertschi, M., Andreas, S., Volkert, J., Dehoust, M. C., Sehner, S., Suling, A., Wegscheider, K., Ausín, B., Crawford, M. J., ... Härter, M. (2018).
 Anxiety Disorders in Old Age: Psychiatric Comorbidities, Quality of Life, and Prevalence According to Age, Gender, and Country. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry: official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry, 26(2), 174–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2017.08.015</u>
- Cao, Y., Taylor, A. W., Pan, X., Adams, R., Appleton, S., & Shi, Z. (2016). Dinner fat intake and sleep duration and self-reported sleep parameters over five years:Findings from the Jiangsu Nutrition Study of Chinese adults. Nutrition (Burbank,

Los Angeles County, Calif.), 32(9), 970–974.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2016.02.012

- Campanini, M. Z., Guallar-Castillón, P., Rodríguez-Artalejo, F., & Lopez-Garcia, E. (2017). Mediterranean Diet and Changes in Sleep Duration and Indicators of Sleep Quality in Older Adults. Sleep, 40(3), 10.1093/sleep/zsw083. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsw083
- Cappuccio, F. P., Taggart, F. M., Kandala, N. B., Currie, A., Peile, E., Stranges, S., &
 Miller, M. A. (2008). Meta-analysis of short sleep duration and obesity in children and adults. Sleep, 31(5), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/31.5.619
- Cappuccio, F. P., D'Elia, L., Strazzullo, P., & Miller, M. A. (2010). Quantity and quality of sleep and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis.
 Diabetes care, 33(2), 414–420. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-1124
- Carlisle, T., Carthy, E. R., Glasser, M., Drivas, P., McMillan, A., Cowie, M. R., Simonds,
 A. K., & Morrell, M. J. (2014). Upper airway factors that protect against obstructive sleep apnoea in healthy older males. The European respiratory journal, 44(3), 685–693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00177213</u>
- Chu, L., Sun, X., Jia, X., Li, D., Gao, P., Zhang, Y., & Li, J. (2022). The Relationship Among BDNF Val66Met Polymorphism, Plasma BDNF Level, and Trait Anxiety in Chinese Patients With Panic Disorder. Frontiers in psychiatry, 13, 932235. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.932235</u>
- Chung, N., Bin, Y. S., Cistulli, P. A., & Chow, C. M. (2020). Does the Proximity of Meals to Bedtime Influence the Sleep of Young Adults? A Cross-Sectional

Survey of University Students. International journal of environmental research and public health, 17(8), 2677. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082677

- Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults: executive summary. Expert Panel on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight in Adults. (1998). The American journal of clinical nutrition, 68(4), 899–917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/68.4.899</u>
- Colten, H. R., Altevogt, B. M., & Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on SleepMedicine and Research (Eds.). (2006). Sleep Disorders and Sleep Deprivation:An Unmet Public Health Problem. National Academies Press (US).
- Crowley K. (2011). Sleep and sleep disorders in older adults. Neuropsychology review, 21(1), 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-010-9154-6
- Dinoff, A., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2017). The effect of acute exercise on blood concentrations of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy adults: a meta-analysis. The European journal of neuroscience, 46(1), 1635–1646. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13603
- Dolezal, B. A., Neufeld, E. V., Boland, D. M., Martin, J. L., & Cooper, C. B. (2017). Interrelationship between Sleep and Exercise: A Systematic Review. Advances in preventive medicine, 2017, 1364387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1364387</u>
- Duman RS, et al. Neuronal plasticity and survival in mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry. 2000;48(8):732–739
- Du, S., Dong, J., Zhang, H., Jin, S., Xu, G., Liu, Z., Chen, L., Yin, H., & Sun, Z. (2015). Taichi exercise for self-rated sleep quality in older people: a systematic review

and meta-analysis. International journal of nursing studies, 52(1), 368–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.05.009

- Giese, M., Unternährer, E., Hüttig, H., Beck, J., Brand, S., Calabrese, P., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Eckert, A. (2014). BDNF: an indicator of insomnia?. Molecular psychiatry, 19(2), 151–152. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.10
- Erickson, K. I., Prakash, R. S., Voss, M. W., Chaddock, L., Heo, S., McLaren, M., Pence, B. D., Martin, S. A., Vieira, V. J., Woods, J. A., McAuley, E., & Kramer, A. F. (2010). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is associated with age-related decline in hippocampal volume. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 30(15), 5368–5375. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6251-09.2010
- Fan, T. T., Chen, W. H., Shi, L., Lin, X., Tabarak, S., Chen, S. J., Que, J. Y., Bao, Y. P., Tang, X. D., Shi, J., Lu, L., Sun, H. Q., & Liu, J. J. (2019). Objective sleep duration is associated with cognitive deficits in primary insomnia: BDNF may play a role. Sleep, 42(1), 10.1093/sleep/zsy192.

https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsy192

Faraguna, U., Vyazovskiy, V. V., Nelson, A. B., Tononi, G., & Cirelli, C. (2008). A causal role for brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the homeostatic regulation of sleep. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 28(15), 4088–4095. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5510-</u> 07.2008

- Ferris, L. T., Williams, J. S., & Shen, C. L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 39(4), 728.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-Mental State" A practical method for grading the cogntive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatric Res. 1975; 12:189–198.)
- Foley, D., Ancoli-Israel, S., Britz, P., & Walsh, J. (2004). Sleep disturbances and chronic disease in older adults: results of the 2003 National Sleep Foundation Sleep in America Survey. Journal of psychosomatic research, 56(5), 497–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.02.010
- Gao, X., Schwarzschild, M. A., Wang, H., & Ascherio, A. (2009). Obesity and restless legs syndrome in men and women. Neurology, 72(14), 1255–1261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000345673.35676.1c</u>
- Giese, M., Unternaehrer, E., Brand, S., Calabrese, P., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Eckert,
 A. (2013). The interplay of stress and sleep impacts BDNF level. *PloS one*, 8(10),
 e76050. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076050</u>
- Grandner, M. A., Jackson, N., Gerstner, J. R., & Knutson, K. L. (2013). Dietary nutrients associated with short and long sleep duration. Data from a nationally representative sample. Appetite, 64, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.01.004
- Griffin, É. W., Mullally, S., Foley, C., Warmington, S. A., O'Mara, S. M., & Kelly, Á. M.
 (2011). Aerobic exercise improves hippocampal function and increases BDNF in the serum of young adult males. Physiology & behavior, 104(5), 934-941.

- Guindalini, C., Mazzotti, D. R., Castro, L. S., D'Aurea, C. V., Andersen, M. L., Poyares,
 D., Bittencourt, L. R., & Tufik, S. (2014). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene
 polymorphism predicts interindividual variation in the sleep
 electroencephalogram. Journal of neuroscience research, 92(8), 1018–1023.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23380
- Gupta, C. C., Irwin, C., Vincent, G. E., & Khalesi, S. (2021). The Relationship Between Diet and Sleep in Older Adults: a Narrative Review. Current nutrition reports, 10.1007/s13668-021-00362-4. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-021-00362-4
- Harborne, J. B., & Williams, C. A. (2000). Advances in flavonoid research since 1992.Phytochemistry, 55(6), 481–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9422(00)00235-1</u>
- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(8):1423–1434. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616b27
- Havekes, R., Vecsey, C. G., & Abel, T. (2012). The impact of sleep deprivation on neuronal and glial signaling pathways important for memory and synaptic plasticity. Cellular signalling, 24(6), 1251–1260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.02.010
- Held, K., Antonijevic, I. A., Künzel, H., Uhr, M., Wetter, T. C., Golly, I. C., Steiger, A., & Murck, H. (2002). Oral Mg(2+) supplementation reverses age-related neuroendocrine and sleep EEG changes in humans. Pharmacopsychiatry, 35(4), 135–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-33195</u>

- Huhn, S., Kharabian Masouleh, S., Stumvoll, M., Villringer, A., & Witte, A. V. (2015).
 Components of a Mediterranean diet and their impact on cognitive functions in aging. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 7, 132.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2015.00132
- Ikonte, C. J., Mun, J. G., Reider, C. A., Grant, R. W., & Mitmesser, S. H. (2019). Micronutrient Inadequacy in Short Sleep: Analysis of the NHANES 2005-2016. Nutrients, 11(10), 2335. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11102335</u>
- Jordan, A. S., & McEvoy, R. D. (2003). Gender differences in sleep apnea: epidemiology, clinical presentation and pathogenic mechanisms. Sleep medicine reviews, 7(5), 377–389. https://doi.org/10.1053/smrv.2002.0260
- Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Lassale C, Ferry M, Jeandel C, Hercberg S, Galan P. Mediterranean diet and cognitive function: a French study. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:369–76.
- Keys, A., Fidanza, F., Karvonen, M. J., Kimura, N., & Taylor, H. L. (1972). Indices of relative weight and obesity. Journal of chronic diseases, 25(6), 329–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(72)90027-6
- Kim, J. H., Chang, J. H., Kim, D. Y., & Kang, J. W. (2014). Association between selfreported sleep duration and serum vitamin D level in elderly Korean adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 62(12), 2327–2332.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13148

 Knyazev G. G. (2012). EEG delta oscillations as a correlate of basic homeostatic and motivational processes. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews, 36(1), 677–695.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.10.002 Kocevska, D., Lysen, T. S., Dotinga, A., Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Luijk, M., Antypa, N., Biermasz, N. R., Blokstra, A., Brug, J., Burk, W. J., Comijs, H. C., ...
Tiemeier, H. (2021). Sleep characteristics across the lifespan in 1.1 million people from the Netherlands, United Kingdom and United States: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nature human behaviour, 5(1), 113–122.
https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-00965-x

- Krishnan, V., & Collop, N. A. (2006). Gender differences in sleep disorders. Current opinion in pulmonary medicine, 12(6), 383–389. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mcp.0000245705.69440.6a
- Lang, U.E., Hellweg, R., Kalus, P. et al. Association of a functional BDNF polymorphism and anxiety-related personality traits. Psychopharmacology 180, 95–99 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-2137-7
- Li, J., Vitiello, M. V., & Gooneratne, N. S. (2018). Sleep in Normal Aging. Sleep medicine clinics, 13(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2017.09.001</u>
- Liang, H., Beydoun, H. A., Hossain, S., Maldonado, A., Zonderman, A. B., Fanelli-Kuczmarski, M. T., & Beydoun, M. A. (2020). Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Score and Its Association with Sleep Quality in a National Survey of Middle-Aged and Older Men and Women. Nutrients, 12(5), 1510.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12051510
- Lindseth, G., Lindseth, P., & Thompson, M. (2013). Nutritional effects on sleep. Western journal of nursing research, 35(4), 497–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945911416379</u>

- Liu R. H. (2013). Health-promoting components of fruits and vegetables in the diet. Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md.), 4(3), 384S–92S. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.112.003517
- Losenkov, I. S., Mulder, N., Levchuk, L. A., Vyalova, N. M., Loonen, A., Bosker, F. J.,
 Simutkin, G. G., Boiko, A. S., Bokhan, N. A., Wilffert, B., Hak, E., Schmidt, A.
 F., & Ivanova, S. A. (2020). Association Between BDNF Gene Variant Rs6265
 and the Severity of Depression in Antidepressant Treatment-Free Depressed
 Patients. Frontiers in psychiatry, 11, 38. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00038
- Maioli, S., Puerta, E., Merino-Serrais, P., Fusari, L., Gil-Bea, F., Rimondini, R., & Cedazo-Minguez, A. (2012). Combination of apolipoprotein E4 and high carbohydrate diet reduces hippocampal BDNF and arc levels and impairs memory in young mice. Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD, 32(2), 341.
- Mamalaki, E., Anastasiou, C. A., Ntanasi, E., Tsapanou, A., Kosmidis, M. H., Dardiotis, E., Hadjigeorgiou, G. M., Sakka, P., Scarmeas, N., & Yannakoulia, M. (2018).
 Associations between the mediterranean diet and sleep in older adults: Results from the hellenic longitudinal investigation of aging and diet study. Geriatrics & gerontology international, 18(11), 1543–1548. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.13521
- Matyi J, Tschanz JT, Rattinger GB, et al. Sex differences in risk for Alzheimer's disease related to neurotrophin gene polymorphisms: the Cache County Memory Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2017;72(12):1607–1613.

doi:10.1093/gerona/glx092

Mayers, A. G., & Baldwin, D. S. (2006). The relationship between sleep disturbance and depression. International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice, 10(1), 2-16.)

- McDowell I, Kristjansson B, Hill GB, Hebert R. Community screening for dementia: the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE) and Modified Mini- Mental State Exam (3MS) compared. J Clin Epidemiol. 1997;50(4):377–383. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(97)00060-7
- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2010). Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1186*, 190–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05331.x</u>
- Miech, R. A., Breitner, J. C., Zandi, P. P., Khachaturian, A. S., Anthony, J. C., & Mayer,
 L. (2002). Incidence of AD may decline in the early 90s for men, later for women:
 The Cache County study. Neurology, 58(2), 209–218.
 https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.58.2.209
- Melancon, M. O., Lorrain, D., & Dionne, I. J., (2015). "Sleep depth and continuity before and after chronic exercise in older men: electrophysiological evidence," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 140, pp. 203–208,
- Milligan, S. A., & Chesson, A. L. (2002). Restless legs syndrome in the older adult: diagnosis and management. Drugs & aging, 19(10), 741–751. https://doi.org/10.2165/00002512-200219100-00003

Miloyan, B., & Pachana, N. A. (2015). Clinical significance of worry and physical symptoms in late-life generalized anxiety disorder. International journal of geriatric psychiatry, 30(12), 1186–1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4273</u>

Molteni, R., Barnard, R. J., Ying, Z., Roberts, C. K., & Gómez-Pinilla, F. (2002). A highfat, refined sugar diet reduces hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor, neuronal plasticity, and learning. Neuroscience, 112(4), 803-814.

https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4522(02)00123-9

- Monane M. (1992). Insomnia in the elderly. The Journal of clinical psychiatry, 53 Suppl, 23–28.)
- Monteiro, B. C., Monteiro, S., Candida, M., Adler, N., Paes, F., Rocha, N., Nardi, A. E., Murillo-Rodriguez, E., & Machado, S. (2017). Relationship Between Brain-Derived Neurotrofic Factor (Bdnf) and Sleep on Depression: A Critical Review. Clinical practice and epidemiology in mental health : CP & EMH, 13, 213–219. https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017901713010213
- Morris, M. C., Tangney, C. C., Wang, Y., Barnes, L. L., Bennett, D., & Aggarwal, N. (2014). MIND diet score more predictive than DASH or Mediterranean Diet scores. Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association, 10(4), P166. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.04.164
- Morris, M. C., Tangney, C. C., Wang, Y., Sacks, F. M., Barnes, L. L., Bennett, D. A., & Aggarwal, N. T. (2015). MIND diet slows cognitive decline with aging.
 Alzheimer's and Dementia, 11(9), 1015-1022. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2015.04.011
- Morris, M. C., Tangney, C. C., Wang, Y., Sacks, F. M., Bennett, D. A., & Aggarwal, N. T. (2015). MIND diet associated with reduced incidence of Alzheimer's disease.
 Alzheimer's and Dementia, 11(9), 1007-1014. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.11.009
- Munger, R. G., Folsom, A. R., Kushi, L. H., Kaye, S. A., & Sellers, T. A. (1992). Dietary assessment of older Iowa women with a food frequency questionnaire: nutrient intake, reproducibility, and comparison with 24-hour dietary recall interviews.

American journal of epidemiology, 136(2), 192–200.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116485

- Neubauer D. N. (1999). Sleep problems in the elderly. American family physician, 59(9), 2551–2560.
- Norton, J., Ancelin, M. L., Stewart, R., Berr, C., Ritchie, K., & Carrière, I. (2012). Anxiety symptoms and disorder predict activity limitations in the elderly. Journal of affective disorders, 141(2-3), 276–285.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.04.002

- Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. (2000). World Health Organization technical report series, 894, i–253.
- Ohlmann, K. K., & O'Sullivan, M. I. (2009). The costs of short sleep. AAOHN journal : official journal of the American Association of Occupational Health Nurses, 57(9), 381–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/08910162-20090817-02</u>
- Ohayon M. M. (2002). Epidemiology of insomnia: what we know and what we still need to learn. Sleep medicine reviews, 6(2), 97–111.

https://doi.org/10.1053/smrv.2002.0186

- Panja, D., & Bramham, C. R. (2014). BDNF mechanisms in late LTP formation: A synthesis and breakdown. Neuropharmacology, 76 Pt C, 664–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.06.024</u>
- Park, C. H., Kim, J., Namgung, E., Lee, D. W., Kim, G. H., Kim, M., Kim, N., Kim, T. D., Kim, S., Lyoo, I. K., & Yoon, S. (2017). The BDNF Val66Met Polymorphism Affects the Vulnerability of the Brain Structural Network. Frontiers in human neuroscience, 11, 400. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00400

Paruthi, S., Brooks, L. J., D'Ambrosio, C., Hall, W. A., Kotagal, S., Lloyd, R. M.,

Malow, B. A., Maski, K., Nichols, C., Quan, S. F., Rosen, C. L., Troester, M. M.,
& Wise, M. S. (2016). Consensus Statement of the American Academy of Sleep
Medicine on the Recommended Amount of Sleep for Healthy Children:
Methodology and Discussion. Journal of clinical sleep medicine: JCSM : official
publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 12(11), 1549–1561.
https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.6288

- Pasinetti, G. M., Zhao, Z., Qin, W., Ho, L., Shrishailam, Y., Macgrogan, D., Ressmann,
 W., Humala, N., Liu, X., Romero, C., Stetka, B., Chen, L., Ksiezak-Reding, H., &
 Wang, J. (2007). Caloric intake and Alzheimer's disease. Experimental
 approaches and therapeutic implications. Interdisciplinary topics in gerontology,
 35, 159–175. https://doi.org/10.1159/000096561
- Peng, Y. T., Hsu, Y. H., Chou, M. Y., Chu, C. S., Su, C. S., Liang, C. K., Wang, Y. C., Yang, T., Chen, L. K., & Lin, Y. T. (2021). Factors associated with insomnia in older adult outpatients vary by gender: a cross-sectional study. BMC geriatrics, 21(1), 681. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-021-02643-7
- Pittenger, C., Duman, R. Stress, Depression, and Neuroplasticity: A Convergence of Mechanisms. Neuropsychopharmacol 33, 88–109 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301574
- Porter Starr, K. N., & Bales, C. W. (2015). Excessive Body Weight in Older Adults. Clinics in geriatric medicine, 31(3), 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2015.04.001

- Rajput, V., & Bromley, S. M. (1999). Chronic insomnia: a practical review. American family physician, 60(5), 1431–1442
- Reid, K. J., Martinovich, Z., Finkel, S., Statsinger, J., Golden, R., Harter, K., & Zee, P. C. (2006). Sleep: a marker of physical and mental health in the elderly. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry : official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry, 14(10), 860–866.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JGP.0000206164.56404.ba
- Rendeiro, C., Vauzour, D., Rattray, M., Waffo-Téguo, P., Mérillon, J. M., Butler, L. T., Williams, C. M., & Spencer, J. P. (2013). Dietary levels of pure flavonoids improve spatial memory performance and increase hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor. PloS one, 8(5), e63535.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063535

- Robins, L. N., Helzer, J. E., Croughan, J. L., & Ratcliff, K. S. (1981). National Institute of Mental Health diagnostic interview schedule: Its history, characteristics, and validity. Archives of General Psychiatry, 38(4), 381–389. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1981.01780290015001
- Romero-Corral, A., Caples, S. M., Lopez-Jimenez, F., & Somers, V. K. (2010). Interactions between obesity and obstructive sleep apnea: implications for treatment. Chest, 137(3), 711–719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.09-0360</u>
- Sanchez-Villegas A, Galbete C, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Martinez JA, Razquin C, Salas-Salvado J, et al. The effect of the Mediterranean diet on plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels: The PREDIMEDNAVARRA randomized trial. Nutr Neurosci. 2011;14 (5):195–201

- Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel D, et al. Association of apolipoprotein E allele ε4 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1993;43(8):1467. doi:10.1212/wnl.43.8.1467
- Savarino, G., Corsello, A., & Corsello, G. (2021). Macronutrient balance and micronutrient amounts through growth and development. Italian journal of pediatrics, 47(1), 109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-021-01061-0</u>
- Schmolesky, M. T., Webb, D. L., & Hansen, R. A. (2013). The effects of aerobic exercise intensity and duration on levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy men. Journal of sports science & medicine, 12(3), 502–511.
- Schuld, A., Hebebrand, J., Geller, F., & Pollmächer, T. (2000). Increased body-mass index in patients with narcolepsy. Lancet (London, England), 355(9211), 1274– 1275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)74704-8</u>).
- Spaeth, A. M., Dinges, D. F., & Goel, N. (2014). Sex and race differences in caloric intake during sleep restriction in healthy adults. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 100(2), 559–566. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.086579
- Steffens, D. C., Fisher, G. G., Langa, K. M., Potter, G. G., & Plassman, B. L. (2009). Prevalence of depression among older Americans: the Aging, Demographics and Memory Study. International psychogeriatrics, 21(5), 879–888. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610209990044</u>
- Steffens, D. C., Skoog, I., Norton, M. C., Hart, A. D., Tschanz, J. T., Plassman, B. L., Wyse, B. W., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., & Breitner, J. C. (2000). Prevalence of depression and its treatment in an elderly population: the Cache County study.
Archives of general psychiatry, 57(6), 601–607.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.57.6.601

- Tan, X., van Egmond, L. T., Cedernaes, J., & Benedict, C. (2020). The role of exerciseinduced peripheral factors in sleep regulation. Molecular metabolism, 42, 101096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.101096</u>
- Taylor-Piliae, R. E., & Froelicher, E. S. (2004). Effectiveness of Tai Chi exercise in improving aerobic capacity: a meta-analysis. The Journal of cardiovascular nursing, 19(1), 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005082-200401000-00009Schmitt, K., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Eckert, A. (2016). BDNF in sleep, insomnia, and sleep deprivation. Annals of medicine, 48(1-2), 42–51. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2015.1131327
- Teng EL, Chui HC, Schneider LS, Metzger LE. Alzheimer's dementia: performance on the Mini-Mental State Examination. J Consult Clin Psychol 1987;55:96–100.
- Terracciano, A., Piras, M. G., Lobina, M., Mulas, A., Meirelles, O., Sutin, A. R., Chan, W., Sanna, S., Uda, M., Crisponi, L., & Schlessinger, D. (2013). Genetics of serum BDNF: meta-analysis of the Val66Met and genome-wide association study. The world journal of biological psychiatry : the official journal of the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry, 14(8), 583–589. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622975.2011.616533
- Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet and survival in a Greek population. N Engl J Med 2003;348:2599–608.
- Tschanz JT, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Plassman BL, Norton MC, Wyse BW, Breitner JC. An adaptation of the modified mini-mental state exami- nation: analysis of

demographic influences and normative data: the cache county study.

Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol 2002;15:28–38.

- Tschanz JT, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Skoog I, West N, Norton MC, Wyse BW, Nickles R, Breitner JC. Dementia diagnoses from clinical and neuropsychological data compared: the Cache County study. Neurol- ogy 2000;54:1290–6.
- Tyagi E, Agrawal R, Zhuang Y, et al. Vulnerability imposed by diet and brain trauma for anxiety like phenotype: implications for post-traumatic stress disorders. PLoS One. 2013; 8:e57945. Influence of dietary habits to determine the vulnerability factors for injury outcomes has been suggested. [PubMed: 23483949]
- Vilela TC, Muller AP, Damiani AP, et al. Strength and aerobic exercises improve spatial memory in aging rats through stimulating distinct neuroplasticity mechanisms.
 Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54(10):7928–7937. doi:10.1007/s12035-016-0272-x
- Vgontzas, A. N., & Chrousos, G. P. (2002). Sleep, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and cytokines: multiple interactions and disturbances in sleep disorders. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America*, 31(1), 15–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0889-8529(01)00005-6
- Wang, X., & Youngstedt, S. D. (2014). Sleep quality improved following a single session of moderate-intensity aerobic exercise in older women: Results from a pilot study. Journal of sport and health science, 3(4), 338–342.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2013.11.004

Watson, A. J., Henson, K., Dorsey, S. G., & Frank, M. G. (2015). The truncated TrkB receptor influences mammalian sleep. American journal of physiology.

Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology, 308(3), R199–R207. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00422.2014

- Wengreen, H., Munger, R. G., Cutler, A., Quach, A., Bowles, A., Corcoran, C., Tschanz, J. T., Norton, M. C., & Welsh-Bohmer, K. A. (2013). Prospective study of Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension- and Mediterranean-style dietary patterns and age-related cognitive change: the Cache County Study on Memory, Health and Aging. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 98(5), 1263–1271. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.051276
- Wengreen, H. J., Neilson, C., Munger, R., & Corcoran, C. (2009). Diet quality is associated with better cognitive test performance among aging men and women. The Journal of nutrition, 139(10), 1944–1949.

https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.106427

- Willett, W. C., Sampson, L., Stampfer, M. J., Rosner, B., Bain, C., Witschi, J., ... Speizer,F. E. (1985). Reproducibility and validity of a semiquantitative food frequencyquestionnaire. American Journal of Epidemiology, 122(1), 51-65.
- Willett, W., & Stampfer, M. J. (1986). Total energy intake: implications for epidemiologic analyses. American journal of epidemiology, 124(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114366
- Winter, J. E., MacInnis, R. J., Wattanapenpaiboon, N., & Nowson, C. A. (2014). BMI and all-cause mortality in older adults: a meta-analysis. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 99(4), 875–890. <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.068122</u>
- Wu, A., Ying, Z., & Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2004). Dietary omega-3 fatty acids normalizeBDNF levels, reduce oxidative damage, and counteract learning disability after

traumatic brain injury in rats. Journal of neurotrauma, 21(10), 1457–1467.

https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2004.21.1457

- X. Wang and S. D. Youngstedt, "Sleep quality improved following a single session of moderate-intensity aerobic exercise in older women: results from a pilot study," Journal of Sport and Health Science, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 338–342, 2014
- Yaffe, K., Falvey, C. M., & Hoang, T. (2014). Connections between sleep and cognition in older adults. The Lancet. Neurology, 13(10), 1017–28. http://doi.org/10.1016/S14744422(14)70172-3
- Yates, W. R., Mitchell, J., Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Warden, D., Hauger, R. B., Fava, M., Gaynes, B. N., Husain, M. M., & Bryan, C. (2004).
 Clinical features of depressed outpatients with and without co-occurring general medical conditions in STAR*D. General hospital psychiatry, 26(6), 421–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2004.06.008
- Zhang, B., & Wing, Y. K. (2006). Sex differences in insomnia: a meta-analysis. Sleep, 29(1), 85–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/29.1.85</u>

Appendix 1. PREDICTOR VARIABLES, COVARIATES, INTERACTIONS, AND OUTCOMES FOR EACH RESEARCH QUESTION

Research Question	Primary Predictors	Covariates	Interactions	Outcomes
1. Are SNPs that	rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met)	Age		Sleep disturbance
code for BDNF	rs2289656 (BDNF receptor trkB)	BMI		(presence/absence)
receptors	rs2072446 (BDNF receptor p75 ^{NTR})	Education		
associated with the	rs56164415 (BDNF C270T)	APOE ε4		
occurrence of sleep disturbance?		Depression		
2. Are lifestyle	Physical Activity levels	Age		Sleep disturbance
factors of physical	Mediterranean Diet	BMI		(presence/absence)
activity, diet pattern and	Macronutrients (Carbohydrates, fats, proteins)	Education		
macronutrients	Flavonoids	APOE ε4		
associated with sleep disturbance?		Depression		
3. Do SNPs in	Physical Activity levels	Age	SNP*Physical Activity	Sleep disturbance
Question 1 modify the associations	Macronutrients (Carbohydrates, fats, proteins)	BMI	SNP*Macronutrients	(presence/absence)
between lifestyle	Flavonoids	Education	SNP*Flavonoids	
factors in Question	Mediterranean Diet	APOE ε4	SNP*Mediterranean Diet	
2 and sleep	rs6265 (BDNF Val66Met)	Depression		
disturbance?	rs2289656 (BDNF receptor trkB)			
	rs2072446 (BDNF receptor p75 ^{NTR})			
	rs56164415 (BDNF C270T)			

Appendix 2. CACHE COUNTY STUDY ON MEMORY IN AGING NUTRITION QUESTIONNAIRE



CACHE COUNTY STUDY ON MEMORY IN AGING NUTRITION QUESTIONNAIRE Conducted by: Utah State University

			Marking Instrue	ctions										
Please foll	ow these few sin	nple rules in	completing this que	stionnaire.										
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Use only a pen Darken comple Erase cleanly a Make no stray For food that y Less than once Please note the	cil. (Please etely the circ any answer t marks of an ou never or a month. P correct way	DO NOT use a pen) ble of the answer you hat you wish to chan y kind on the form rarely eat, please ma lease <u>do not</u> leave ar y to mark the answer	r choose ge irk the first column labe ry food items blank. s.	eled "None or									
	Correct Mark Incorrect Mark													
Please ans	wer the followi	ng. Check t	he appropriate gende	r, and fill in your heigh	nt, weight, and age									
Male	_	8	Female	, , , ,	, , , , ,									
Height			Weight		Age									
THANK	YOU!!!!													

DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS

PLEASE INDICATE WHICH, IF ANY, OF THE FOLLOWING SUPPLEMENTS YOU ARE CURRENTLY TAKING. PLEASE ANSWER "YES" OR "NO" FOR ANY SUPPLEMENT LISTED.

Excluding multivitamins, do you take any of the following supplements listed below?

- 2. Do you regularly take Vitamin A? □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 3 \Box YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? \Box 0-1 years \Box 5-9 years □ 2-4 years \Box 10 or more years (B) What dose do you take per day? □ less than 8,000 IU □ 22,001 IU or more □8,001 to 13,000 IU □ Don't know □ 13,001 to 22,000 IU Do you regularly take Vitamin C? 3. NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 4 \Box YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? \Box 0-1 years \Box 5-9 years \Box 2-4 years \Box 10 or more years (B) What dose do you take per day? \Box less than 400 mg \square 1301 mg or more □ 401 to 700 mg □ Don't know □ 701 to 1300 mg 4. Do you regularly take Vitamin C?
 - □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 5 □ YES> CONTINUE:
 - (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins?
 - $\Box 0-1 \text{ years} \qquad \Box 5-9 \text{ years}$
 - $\Box 2-4 \text{ years} \qquad \Box 10 \text{ or more years}$
 - (B) What dose do you take per day?
 □ less than 100IU
 □ 504 IU or more
 - \Box 101 to 300 IU \Box Don't know
 - □ 301 to 500 IU

5. Do you regularly take Calcium? □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 6 □ YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? \Box 0-1 years \Box 5-9 years \Box 2-4 years \Box 10 or more years (B) What dose do you take per day? □ 1301 mg or more □ less than 400 mg □ 401 to 900 mg □ Don't know □ 901 to 1300 mg 6. Do you regularly take Vitamin D? □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 7 □ YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? \Box 0-1 years □ 5-9 years \Box 2-4 years \Box 10 or more years (B) What dose do you take per day? □ 1,000 IU or more □ less than 200 IU □ 201 to 400 IU□ Don't know □ 401 to 1,000 IU 7. Do you regularly take Vitamin B6? □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 8 □ YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? □ 5-9 years \Box 0-1 years \Box 10 or more years □ 2-4 years (B) What dose do you take per day? □ less than 10 mg □ 80 mg or more □ 10 to 39 mg □ Don't know □ 40 to 79 mg 8. Do you regularly take Selenium? □ NO> PLEASE GO TO QUESTION 9 \Box YES> CONTINUE: (A) How many years have you taken multivitamins? □ 0-1 years \Box 5-9 years \Box 2-4 years \Box 10 or more years (B) What dose do you take per day?

□ less than 80 mcg

(B)

1

3 4 5 6 7 8 9

5 6

 $\begin{bmatrix} \Box \\ 2 \end{bmatrix}$

□ 81 to 130 mcg □ 131 to 250 mcg

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

4

□ □ 4 5

3

5 6

7

1 1 7 8

6

8

9 0 1 2

9

□ 0

(A)

1

□ □ 1 2

2 3

□ 251 mcg or more □ Don't know

8 9 0

(C)

□ 1 3 4 5

3 4 5

□ 2 7

□ □ 7 8

6

9

9

0

0

8

0 1 2

70



11. DO YOU TAKE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING OTHER SUPPLEMENTS:

Cod liver oil \Box Yes \Box No
Other fish oil \Box Yes \Box No
Niacin \Box Yes \Box No
Beta-caroten \Box Yes \Box No
Thiamine (vitamin B1) Yes No
B-complex vitamins \Box Yes \Box No

Folic acid \Box Yes \Box No
Iodine \Box Yes \Box No
Brewer's Yeast \Box Yes \Box No
Magnesium \Box Yes \Box No
Any others? \Box Yes \Box No
If yes, please specify

For each food listed, please mark a circle for how often during the past yea sei a c ne cir

circle for how often during the past year, on average, you have eaten the		AVE	RAGE	USE	FOR P	AST 12	2 MON	тнѕ	
serving size specified. Be sure to mark a circle for every food listed. If you never eat the food listed mark the circle in the first column. DAIRY FOODS	NONE OR LESS THAN 1 PER MO.	1-3 PER MO.	1 PER WK.	2-4 PER WK.	5-6 PER WK.	1 PER DAY	2-3 PER DAY	4-5 PER DAY	6 PER DAY
Skim or low fat milk (8 oz. glass)									
Whole milk (8 oz. glass)									
Chocolate milk or cocoa (8 oz. glass)									
Cream or half-and-half, e.g. coffee, whipped (Tbs)									
Sour cream (Tbs)									
Non-dairy coffee whitener (tsp)									
Sherbet, ice milk, or frozen yogurt (1/2 cup)									
Ice cream (1/2 cup)									
Yogurt (1 cup)									
Cottage or ricotta cheese (1/2 cup)									
Cream cheese (1 oz.)									
Other cheese, e.g. American, cheddar, etc., plain or as part of a dish (1 slice or 1 oz. serving)									
Margarine (1 tsp, added to food or bread; exclude use in cooking									
Butter (1 tsp), added to food or bread; exclude use in cooking.									
FRUITS									
Raisins (1 oz. or small pack) or grapes (1/2 c)									

Prunes (7 prunes or ¹ / ₂ cup)					
Bananas (1)					
Cantaloupe (1/4 melon)					
Avocado (1/2 fruit or ½ cup)					
Fresh apples or pears (1)					
Apple juice or cider (small glass)					
Oranges (1)					
Orange Juice (small glass)					
Grapefruit (1/2)					
Grapefruit juice (small glass)					
Other fruit juices (small glass)					
Strawberries, fresh, frozen or canned (1/2 cup)					
Blueberries, fresh, frozen or canned (1/2 cup)					
Peaches, apricots or plums (1 fresh, or $\frac{1}{2}$ cup canned)					
VEGETABLES					
Tomatoes (1)					
Tomato juice, V8 (small glass)					
Tomato sauce (1/2 cup) e.g. spaghetti sauce					
Salsa or red chili sauce (1 Tbs)					
Tofu or soybeans (3-4 oz.)					
String (green) beans (1/2 cup)					
Broccoli (1/2 cup)					
Cabbage or cole slaw (1/2 cup)					
Cauliflower (1/2 cup)					
Brussels sprouts (1/2 cup)					
Carrots, raw (1/2 carrot or 4 sticks)					
Carrots, cooked (1/2 cup) or carrot juice (2-3 oz.)					
Red Beets—not greens (1/2 cup)					
Corn (1 ear or ¹ / ₂ cup frozen or canned)					
Peas or lima beans (1/2 cup fresh, frozen, or canned)					
Mixed vegetables (1/2 cup)					
Beans or lentils, baked or dried (1/2 cup)					

Dark orange (winter) squash (1/2 cup)								
(acorn, butternut squash)								
Eggplant, zucchini or other summer								
squash (1/2 cup)								
Yams or sweet potatoes (1/2 cup)								
Spinach, cooked (1/2 cup)								
Spinach, raw as in a salad (1 cup serving)								
Kale, mustard or chard greens (1/2 cup)								
Iceberg or head lettuce (1 cup serving)								
Romaine or leaf lettuce (1 cup serving)								
Celery (2-4 4" sticks)								
Sweet green or red peppers (3 slices or $\frac{1}{4}$								
pepper)								
Onions as a garnish, or in salad (1 slice)								
Onions as a vegetable, rings or in soup (1								
onion)								
EGGS, MEATS, ETC.								
Eggs (1)								
Chicken with skin (4-6 oz.)								
Chicken without the skin (4-6 oz.),								
includes grilled chicken sandwich		 						
Turkey, including ground turkey (4-6 oz.								
or 2 turkey dogs)		 						
Hot dogs 91)								
Bacon (2 slices)								
Processed meats, e.g. sausage, salami,								
bologna, etc. (1 piece or slice)	-							
Hamburger (1 patty)								
Taco or tostado (1)								
Burrito (1)								
Enchilada (2)								
Beef, pork or lamb as a sandwich or								
mixed dish, e.g. stew, casserole, lasagna,								
Chili etc.	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	_
Fork as a main disn, e.g. nam or chops (4-								
0 02.)		-	-	-				_
Beel of famo as a main dish, e.g. steak, reast $(4, 6, az)$								
Liver heaf calf or park (4 oz)								
Liver, bieken or turkey (2 oz)								
Canned tune fish $(3-4 \text{ oz})$								
Dark meat fish a g mackaral salmon								
sardines bluefish swordfish (2.5 or)								
Fried fish e.g. fish sticks fish and ching								
style fish (3-5 oz)								
Other fish $(3-5 \text{ oz})$								
Shrimn Johster scallong as a main dish								
Simmp, rooster, scanops as a main dish	1							

BREADS, CEREALS, STARCHES								
Cold breakfast cereal (1 cup)								
Cooked oatmeal/cooked oat bran (1 cup)								
Other cooked breakfast cereal (1 cup)								
Instant breakfast beverage, e.g. Carnation								
White bread (slice), including pita bread								
Dark bread (slice), including pita bread								
English muffins, bagels, or dinner rolls (1								
each)								
Muffins or biscuits (1 each)								
White rice (1 cup)								
Pasta, e.g. spaghetti, noodles, etc (1 cup)								
Tortillas (1-10 inch shell)								
Other grains, e.g. bulgur, kasha,								
couscous, etc (1 cup)								
Pancakes or waffles (2 each)								
French fried potatoes (4 oz. or size of								
small fries order)								
Potatoes, baked, boiled (1each), or								
mashed (1 cup)								
Potato chips or corn chips (small bag or 1								
oz.)								
Crackers, e.g. Triscuits, Wheat Things (5								
each)								
Pizza (2 slices)								
BEVERAGES								
Plain water, bottled or tap (1 cup or 8 oz.								
glass)								
Hawaiian Punch, lemonade, or other non-								
carbonated fruit drinks (1 glass, bottle,								
can)	_					<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
Low-calorie cola, e.g. Diet Coke with								
caffeine (can)	_							
Low-calorie caffeine-free cola (can)								
Other low-calorie carbonated beverage,								
e.g. Fresca, Diet 7-0P (can)	_		_	_	_			_
7-Up, diet ginger ale (can)								
Coke, Pepsi, or other cola with sugar								
	_	_	_	_	_	_		_
Caffeine Free Coke, Pepsi, or other cola								
With sugar (can)	_	_			_			
Other carbonated beverages with sugar,								
e.g. Sprite, Root beer (can)		_	_					
Light Deer (1 glass, bottle, or can)								
Light Beer (1 glass, bottle, or can)								
Ked Wine (4 oz. glass)								
white Wine (4 oz. glass)								

Liquor, e.g. whiskey, gin, etc (1 drink or shot)					
Dark tea with caffeine (1 cup), not herbal					
tea					
Green tea or herbal tea (1 cup)					
Coffee with caffeine (1 cup)					
Decaffeinated coffee (1 cup)					
SWEETS, BAKED BGOODS, MISC					
Chocolate (bar or packet) e.g. Hershey's					
M & M's					
Candy bars, e.g. Snicker, milky way,					
Reeses					
Candy other than chocolate (1 oz)					
Cookies, home baked (1)					
Cookies, ready make (1)					
Brownies (1)					
Doughnuts (1)					
Cake, home baked (1 slice)					
Cake, ready make (1 slice)					
Pie, homemade (1 slice)					
Pie, ready made (1 slice)					
Sweet roll, coffee cake or other pastry,					
home baked (1 each)					
Sweet roll, coffee cake or other pastry,					
ready made (1 each)					
Jams, jellies, preserves, syrup, or honey					
(1 Tbs)					
Peanut butter (1 Tbs)					
Popcorn (1 cup)					
Peanuts (small packet or 1 oz.)					
Other nuts (small packet or 1 oz.)					
Oat bran, added to food (1 Tbs)					
Other bran, added to food (1Tbs)					
Wheat germ (1 Tbs)					
Chowder or cream soup (1 cup)					
Olive oil salad dressing (1 Tbs)					
Other oil and vinegar dressing, e. g.					
Italian (1 Tbs)		 	 	 	
Mayonnaise or other creamy salad					
dressing (1 Tbs)	_				
Salt added at table (1 shake)					
Garlic (1 clove or 4 shakes)					

	FOOD PREPARATION											
1.	Do you eat cold breakfast cereal?											
	□ NO> PLEASE GO TO NEXT QUESTION											
	□ YES> What kind do you usually eat?											

2.	How many teaspoons of sugar do you add to your beverages or food each day? $\bigcirc 0-1 \ \bigcirc 2-4 \ \bigcirc 5-9 \ \bigcirc 10$ or more
3.	When you have beef or lamb as a main dish, how is the meat cooked?
	\square Rare \square medium \square well
	□ Medium rare□ medium well □ do not eat meat
4.	How much of the visible fat on your beef, pork, or lamb do you remove before eating?
	\Box remove all visible fat \Box remove none
	\Box remove most visible fat \Box do not eat meat
	□ remove small part of visible fat
5.	How often do you eat food that is fried at home? (exclude Pam-type spray)
	\Box less than once per week \Box 4-6 times per week
	□ 1-3 times per week □ daily
6.	How often do you eat fried food away from home? (e.g. french fries, fried chicken, fried
	fish).
	\Box less than once per week \Box 4-6 times per week
	□ 1-3 times per week □ daily
7.	What type and brand of cooking oil or fat do you usually use at home (e.g. corn oil,
	Mazola brand; lard)
	Туре:
	Brand:
8.	How does the amount of food you eat now compare to the amount you ate five years ago?
	\Box I eat almost the same
	\Box I eat less now
	□ I eat more now
9.	What was the main source of your drinking water over the past year?
	□ city system
	□ rural or county system
	□ private well
	□ bottled water
	□ other (please specify)

FO	FOR OFFICE USE ONLY																												
(D)										(E)										(F)									
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0

YOUR ACTIVITES

1. About how many hours per day do you spend in light activity, such as walking, shopping, child care, cooking, carrying light objects, cleaning, and repairing?

Hours per day_____

2. About how often do you take part in moderate physical activities including bowling, golf,

light swimming, gardening, walks over 15 minutes, fishing, light bicycling, or other light sports.

□Usually every day

□ 2-6 times a week

 \Box About once a week

□ A few times a month

 \Box A few times a year

□ Rarely or never

- 3. About how often do you take part in vigorous physical activity including jobbing, tennis, racquetball or squash, lap swimming, aerobics, vigorous bicycling, skiing, hiking, hunting or other vigorous sports...
 - □Usually every day
 - \Box 2-6 times a week
 - □ About once a week
 - \Box A few times a month
 - \Box A few times a year
 - \Box Rarely or never
- 4. How often do you talk on the telephone with family, friends, or neighbors?
 - □Usually every day
 - \Box 2-6 times a week
 - \Box About once a week
 - \Box A few times a month
 - \Box A few times a year
 - □ Rarely or never
- 5. How often do you get together with family, friends, or neighbors? This includes meeting in your own home, meeting in other's homes, or going out together.
 - □Usually every day
 - \Box 2-6 times a week
 - □ About once a week
 - \Box A few times a month
 - \Box A few times a year \Box B such as a second
 - □ Rarely or never
- 6. How often do you attend meetings of social clubs, groups, or organizations such as bridge clubs, book clubs, hospital volunteer, gardening clubs, Rotary club, Kiwanis, VFW, etc.
 Usually every day
 - \Box 2-6 times a week
 - \Box About once a week
 - \Box A few times a month
 - \Box A few times a year
 - \Box Rarely or never

Thank you for completing this questionnaire. Please make sure that no questions or pages have been skipped. Please place it in the postage-paid envelope that has been provided and seal it. Please return it to us in the mail.

Thank you for your time and cooperation. You have made an important contribution to our study of nutrition and health.

Utah State University